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(Thousand of Euro)

31 March 31 March
Notes 2014 2013

Interest and similar income 2  222 353  216 659 
Interest and similar expense 2  140 475  165 328 

Net interest income 3  81 878  51 331 

Dividends from equity instruments 4   34   23 
Fee and comission income 5  33 076  32 663 
Fee and comission expense 5 ( 8 255) ( 5 819)
Net losses arising from assets and liabilities at fair value
   through profit or loss 6  1 010 ( 2 836)
Net gains/(losses) arising from available for sale
   financial assets 7  208 705  13 969 
Net gains arising from foreign exchange differences 8  4 918  3 415 
Net gains from sale of other financial assets 9 ( 4 952) ( 2 164)
Other operating income 10 ( 8 811)  2 192 

Total operating income  307 603  92 774 

Staff costs 11  46 000  47 868 
General and administrative expenses 12  26 508  23 151 
Depreciation 13  9 191  7 492 

Total operating costs  81 699  78 511 

Loans impairment 14  149 468  18 186 
Other financial assets impairment 15  18 189  4 248 
Other assets impairment 16  1 662  8 172 
Other provisions 17 (  301)   542 

Operating profit  56 886 ( 16 885)

Share of profit of associates under the equity method 18 ( 7 537) ( 1 389)

Profit before income tax  49 349 ( 18 274)

Taxes
Current 33 ( 22 489) ( 1 925)
Deferred 33  9 296  4 768 

Profit for the year  36 156 ( 15 431)

Profit for the year attributable to
  Institutional capital and participation fund  35 481 ( 15 769)
  Non-controlling interests 50   675   338 

Profit for the year  36 156 ( 15 431)

THE CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT THE EXECUTIVE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Caixa Económica Montepio Geral

Consolidated Income Statement
for the 3 months period ended at 31 March de 2014 and 2013
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Caixa Económica Montepio Geral

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March, 2014 and 31 December 2013

(Thousand of Euro)

31 March 31 December
Notes 2014 2013 

Assets

Cash and deposits at central banks 19  427 064  314 259 
Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand 20  229 515  233 785 
Other loans and advances to credit institutions 21  383 499  330 063 
Loans and advances to customers 22 15 511 124 15 555 141 
Financial assets held for trading 23  63 527  64 106 
Other financial assets held for trading at fair value through profit or loss 24   902  3 450 
Financial assets available for sale 25 3 649 791 4 545 816 
Hedging derivatives 26   596   503 
Financial assets held to maturity 27  83 007  34 631 
Investments in associated companies 28  39 209  42 399 
Non current assets held for sale 29  677 573  681 388 
Investment properties 30  711 306  543 534 
Property and equipment 31  120 030  120 492 
Goodwill and intangible assets 32  58 215  59 279 
Current income tax assets  5 008  1 832 
Deferred income tax assets 33  319 513  336 264 
Other assets 34  179 347  172 261 

Total Assets 22 459 226 23 039 203 

Liabilities

Deposits from central banks 35 2 968 037 3 427 354 
Deposits from other credit institutions 36  629 522  474 497 
Deposits from customers 37 13 984 679 14 142 828 
Debt securities issued 38 2 213 152 2 319 428 
Financial liabilities relating to transferred assets 39  193 910  195 049 
Financial liabilities held for trading 23  65 745  62 224 
Hedging derivates 26  1 975  1 849 
Provisions 40  6 984  8 014 
Current income tax liabilities  7 192  1 353 
Other subordinated debt 41  371 924  370 078 
Other liabilities 42  254 560  389 186 

Total Liabilities 20 697 680 21 391 860 

Equity

Institucional capital 43 e 44 1 500 000 1 500 000 
Participation fund  200 000  200 000 
Other capital instruments 45  8 273  8 273 
Own securities 48 ( 3 350) - 
Fair value reserves 47  37 069 ( 11 533)
Reserves and retained earnings 46 e 47 ( 27 647)  238 194 

 35 481 ( 298 626)

Total equity attributable to institutional capital and participation fund 1 749 826 1 636 308 

Non-controlling interests 50  11 720  11 035 

Total Equity 1 761 546 1 647 343 

22 459 226 23 039 203 

THE CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT THE EXECUTIVE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Consolidated profit for the year attributable to institutional capital
    and participation fund



                            See accompanying notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements                                                            24 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Thousand of Euro)

31 March 31 March
2014 2013

Cash flows arising from operating activities

Interest income received  190 033  216 059 
Commissions income received ( 34 547)  30 329 
Interest expense paid ( 142 792) ( 183 740)
Commissions expense paid ( 8 255) ( 5 237)
Payments to employees and suppliers ( 89 553) ( 68 807)
Recoveries on loans previously written off  3 967   593 
Other payments and receivables  150 740  130 388 

 69 593  119 585 

(Increase) / decrease in operating assets:
Loans and advances to credit institutions and customers ( 128 149)  177 952 
Other assets ( 4 615) ( 196 372)

( 132 764) ( 18 420)
(Increase) / decrease in operating liabilities:

Deposits from clients ( 163 316) ( 740 147)
Deposits from credit institutions  157 420 ( 48 763)
Deposits from central banks ( 455 000)  570 000 

( 460 896) ( 218 910)

( 524 067) ( 117 745)

Cash flows arising from investing activities

Dividends received   34   23 
(Acquisition) / sale of trading financial assets ( 2 873)  58 775 
(Acquisition) / sale of other financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss  2 548  2 612 
(Acquisition) / sale of available for sale financial assets  890 193 ( 562 300)
(Acquisition) / sale of hedging derivatives   105 (  262)
(Acquisition) / sale of held to maturity investments ( 55 807) (  270)
(Acquisition) / sale of shares in associated companies  3 190  1 881 
Deposits owned with the purpose of monetary control ( 148 814)  63 822 
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets - - 
Acquisition of fixed assets ( 173 569) (  533)

 515 007 ( 436 252)

Cash flows arising from financing activities

Repurchase of the Share Instruments ( 3 350) - 
Proceeds from issuance of bonds and subordinated debt  125 853  567 174 
Reimbursement of bonds and subordinated debt ( 323 336) - 
Increase / (decrease) in other sundry liabilities ( 10 603) ( 8 776)

( 211 436)  558 398 

Net changes in cash and equivalents ( 220 496)  4 401 

Cash and equivalents balance at the beginning of the year  395 820  391 419 

    Net changes in cash and equivalents ( 220 496)  4 401 

Cash and equivalents balance at the end of the year  175 324  395 820 

Cash and equivalents balance at the end of the year includes:
Cash (note 19)  144 208  156 672 
Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand (note 20)  229 515  239 148 

Total  373 723  395 820 

Caixa Económica Montepio Geral

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the 3 months period ended at 31 March de 2014 and 2013
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(Thousands of Euro)

Balance on 31 December, 2012 1 634 970 1 295 000 -  15 000  254 095 ( 20 290)  18 321  65 887  6 957 

Other movements recognised directly in Equity:

Actuarial losses for the year ( 12 444) - - - - - - ( 12 444) - 

Deferred taxes related to balance sheet changes accounted for 
reserves ( 2 879) - - - - - - ( 2 879) - 

Changes in fair value  5 224 - - - -  5 224 - - - 

Deferred taxes related to fair value changes ( 3 684) - - - - ( 3 684) - - - 

Profit for the period ( 15 431) - - - - - - ( 15 769)   338 

Non-controlling interests   224 - - - - - - -   224 

Other reserves  3 935 - - - - - ( 1 900)  5 835 - 

Costs related to the issue of perpetual 
subordinated Instruments (  388) - - - - - - (  388) - 

Transfers of reserves:

     General reserve - - - -  1 101 - - ( 1 101) - 

Balance on 31 March, 2013 1 609 527 1 295 000 -  15 000  255 196 ( 18 750)  16 421  39 141  7 519 

Other movements recognised directly in Equity:

Actuarial losses for the year ( 53 783) - - - - - - ( 53 783) - 

Deferred taxes related to balance sheet changes accounted for 
reserves ( 1 899) - - - - - - ( 1 899) - 

Changes in fair value  28 212 - - - -  28 212 - - - 

Deferred taxes related to fair value changes ( 6 176) - - - - ( 6 176) - - - 

Profit for the period ( 280 704) - - - - - - ( 282 857)  2 153 

Non-controlling interests  1 797 - - - - - - -  1 797 

Dividends paid ( 1 692) - - - - - - ( 1 692) - 

Dividends from Finibanco Angola, S.A. (  434) - - - - - - - (  434)

Other reserves ( 45 405) - - - - - ( 31 240) ( 14 165) - 

Increase in share capital  205 000  205 000 - - - - - - - 

Increase in share capital by subscription of Share instruments  200 000 -  200 000 - - - - - - 

Costs related to the issue of perpetual 
subordinated Instruments (  373) - - - - - - (  373) - 

Repurchase of perpetual subordinated instruments ( 6 727) - - ( 6 727) - - - - - 

Transfers of reserves:

     General reserve - - - -   496 - - (  496) - 

     Special reserve - - - -   113 - - (  113) - 

Balance on 31 December, 2013 1 647 343 1 500 000  200 000  8 273  255 805  3 286 ( 14 819) ( 316 237)  11 035 

Other movements recognised directly in Equity:

Deferred taxes related to balance sheet changes accounted for 
reserves - - - - - - - - - 

Changes in fair value  87 299 - - - -  88 075 - (  776) - 

Deferred taxes related to fair value changes ( 25 271) - - - - ( 25 271) - - - 

Profit for the period  36 156 - - - - - -  35 481   675 

Non-controlling interests   10 - - - - - - -   10 

Other reserves  19 761 - - - - - ( 14 202)  33 963 - 

Acquisition of own securities of participation ( 3 350) - ( 3 350) - - - - - - 

Costs related to the issue of perpetual 
subordinated Instruments (  402) - - - - - - (  402) - 

Balance on 31 March, 2014 1 761 546 1 500 000  196 650  8 273  255 805  66 090 ( 29 021) ( 247 971)  11 720 

Other 
reserves and 

retained 
earnings

Non-
controlling 
interests

Caixa Económica Montepio Geral
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the three months period ended at 31 March, 2014 and 2013

Total 
equity

Institucional 
capital

Participation 
fund

Other capital 
instruments

General 
and special 
reserves

Fair value 
reserves

Other fair 
value 

reserves
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(Thousand of Euro)

Total
Shareholders of 

CEMG
Non-controlling 

interests

Items that may be reclassified into the Income Statement

Fair value reserve
Available-for-sale financial assets  88 075 - - 
Taxes ( 25 271) - (  776)

 62 804 - (  776)

Items that won't be reclassified into the Income Statement

Deferred taxes (  776) - - 
Costs related to the issue of perpetual subordinated instruments (  402) - - 

( 1 178) - - 

Profit for the year  36 156  35 481   675 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  98 960  35 481 (  101)

Caixa Económica Montepio Geral

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the months ended at 31 March, 2014

31 March 2014
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(Thousand of Euro)

Total
Shareholders of 

CEMG
Non-controlling 

interests

Items that may be reclassified into the Income Statement

Fair value reserve
Available-for-sale financial assets  5 224 - - 
Taxes ( 3 684) - - 

 1 540 - - 

Items that won't be reclassified into the Income Statement

Actuarial losses for the year ( 12 444) - - 
Deferred taxes ( 2 879) - - 
Costs related to the issue of perpetual subordinated instruments (  388) - - 

( 15 711) - - 

Profit for the year ( 15 431) ( 15 769)   338 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period ( 29 602) ( 15 769)   338 

Caixa Económica Montepio Geral

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the months ended at 31 March, 2013

31 March 2013
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Caixa Económica Montepio Geral 

 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
31 March, 2014 

     
 

1 Accounting policies 

a) Basis of presentation 

Caixa Económica Montepio Geral (‘CEMG’) is a credit institution held by Montepio Geral – 
Associação Mutualista, established on 24 March, 1844, and authorised to operate in accordance with 
Decree-Laws no. 298/92 of 31 December, and no. 136/79 of 18 May, which regulate the activity of 
savings banks and establish some restrictions to their activities. However, CEMG is authorised to 
carry out banking operations in addition to those mentioned in its by-laws, if previously authorised by 
the Bank of Portugal. This fact conducts to the practice of banking operations in general. The 
consolidated financial statements reflect the results of the operations of CEMG and all its subsidiaries 
(together referred to as the ‘Group’) and the Group‘s interest in associates, for the 3 months periods 
ended 31 March, 2014 and 2013. 

In 2010, Montepio Geral – Associação Mutualista, CEMG sole shareholder, has made an acquisition 
of 100% of Finibanco Holding, S.G.P.S., S.A. share capital through an Initial Public Offering (IPO) in 
the amount of Euro 341,250 thousands. 

As at 31 March, 2011, Montepio Geral – Associação Mutualista sold its participation in Finibanco 
Holding, S.G.P.S., S.A. to CEMG. Under the change in the structure of the Group arising from this 
acquisition, as at 4 April, 2011, CEMG acquired a set of assets and liabilities of Finibanco, S.A. 
(excluding properties owned by Finibanco, SA and acquired as a result of loans and advances to 
costumers and a leasing portfolio (securities and real estate) in which Finibanco, S.A. is lessor and the 
fixed assets that materially support the operating leasing activities), and all associated liabilities and 
provisions. 

As at 3 September 2013, Finibanco Holding, S.G.P.S., S.A. changed is designation to Montepio 
Holding, S.G.P.S., S.A. and as at 12 July 2013, Finibanco S.A. changed is designation to Montepio 
Investimento, S.A. 

In accordance with Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 from the European Parliament and the Counsel, of 
19 July, 2002 and Regulation no. 1/2005 from the Bank of Portugal, Group’s consolidated financial 
statements are required to be prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(‘IFRS’) as endorsed by the European Union (‘EU’) since year 2005. IFRS comprise accounting 
standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’) as well as interpretations 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (‘IFRIC’) and their 
predecessor bodies. The consolidated financial statements presented herein were approved by the 
Executive Board of Directors of CEMG on 7 May, 2014. The financial statements are presented in 
Euro rounded to the nearest thousand. 

All the references in this document related to any normative always report to current version. 
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The consolidated financial statements for the three months ended 31 march, 2014 were prepared in 
terms of recognition and measurement in accordance with the IFRS adopted by the EU and effective 
on that date and the disclosures in accordance with the requirements set by IAS 34. The financial 
statements for the three months period ended 31 march, 2014 do not include all the information to be 
published in the annual financial statements. 

The accounting policies in this note were applied consistently to all entities of the Group and are 
consistent with those used in the preparation of the financial statements of the previous period, with 
the adoption of the following standards: IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 – 
Joint Arrangements, IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities, with mandatory obligation at 
January 1st, 2014. 

IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements 

IFRS 10 revoked part of IAS 27- Separate Financial Statements and SIC 12 and introduced a new 
single model of control which determines when an investment should be consolidated. This new 
model is focus on whether the entity has power over an investee, exposure or rights to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee and ability to use its power to affect those returns (de facto 
control). 

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IRFS 10, the Group reassessed the control over its 
investments at 1 January, 2013, and no impact was determined as a result of this reassessment. 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 11 withdraw IAS 31 and SIC 13, defines “joint control” by incorporating the same control model 
as defined in IFRS 10 and requires an entity that is part of a “join arrangement” to determine the 
nature of the joint arrangement (“joint operations” or ”joint ventures”) by assessing its rights and 
obligations. IFRS 11 removes the option to account for joint ventures using the proportionate 
consolidation. Instead, joint arrangements that meet the definition of “joint venture” must be account 
for using the equity method (IAS 28). 

The changes introduce by IFRS 11 did not have any impact in the measurement of assets and liabilities 
of the Group. 

IFRS 12 – Disclosures of Interest in Other Entities 

IFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including joint 
arrangements, associates, special vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles. 

The Group’s financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
application of fair value for derivative financial instruments, financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss and available for sale assets, except those for which a reliable measure of fair 
value is not available. Financial assets and liabilities that are hedged under hedge accounting are stated 
at fair value in respect of the risk that is being hedged, if applicable. Other financial assets and 
liabilities and non-financial assets and liabilities are stated at amortised cost or historical cost. Non-
current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount or fair value 
less costs to sell. The liability for defined benefit obligations is recognised as the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation net of the value of the fund. 

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Executive Board of 
Directors to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the accounting 
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
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under the circumstances, and form the basis for making the judgments about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. The issues involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity or for which 
assumptions and estimates are considered to be significant are presented in the accounting policy 
described in note 1 z). 

b) Basis of Consolidation 

As from 1 January, 2010, the Group applied IFRS 3 (revised) for the accounting of business 
combinations. The changes in the accounting policies resulting from the application of IFRS 3 
(revised) are applied prospectively. 

The consolidated financial statements now presented reflect the assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the Group), and the results attributable to the Group financial 
investments in associates. 

Investment in subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group (including structure entities and investment funds). 
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity (de facto control). The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in 
the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on 
which control ceases. 

As from 1 January, 2010, accumulated losses are attributed to non-controlling interests in the 
respective proportion, implying that the Group can recognize negative non-controlling interests. 
Previously, when the accumulated losses of a subsidiary attributable to the non-controlling interest 
exceeded the equity of the subsidiary attributable to the non-controlling interest, the excess was 
attributed to the Group and charged to the income statement as it occurs. Profits subsequently reported 
by the subsidiary are recognised as profits of the Group until the prior losses attributable to non-
controlling interest previously recognised by the Group have been recovered. 

As from 1 January, 2010, on a step acquisition process resulting in the acquisition of control, the 
revaluation of any participation previously acquired is booked against the profit and loss account, 
when goodwill is calculated. On a partial disposal resulting in loss of control over a subsidiary, any 
participation retained is revaluated at market value on the sale date and the gain or loss resulting from 
this revaluation is booked against the income statement. 

Investments in associates 

Investments in associated companies are consolidated by the equity method from the date that the 
Group acquires significant influence until the date it ceases to exist. Associates are those entities, in 
which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee. It is assumed that the Group has significant influence when it holds, directly 
or indirectly, 20% or more of the voting rights of the investee. If the Group holds, directly or indirectly 
less than 20% of the voting rights of the investee, it is presumed that the Group does not have 
significant influence, unless such influence can be clearly demonstrated. 

The existence of significant influence by the Group is usually evidenced in one or more of the 
following ways: 

- representation on the Executive Board of Directors or equivalent governing body of the investee; 



Caixa Económica Montepio Geral 
Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 

31 March, 2014 
 
 

31 
 

- participation in policy-making processes, including participation in decisions about dividends or 
other distributions; 

- material transactions between the Group and the investee; 

- interchange of the management team;  

- provision of essential technical information. 

The consolidated financial statements include the part that is attributable to the Group of the total 
reserves and results of associated companies accounted on an equity basis. When the Group’s share of 
losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the carrying amount is reduced to zero and recognition of 
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred in a legal obligation to 
assume those losses on behalf of an associate. 

Goodwill 

The record of the costs directly related with a subsidiary acquisition is recognized directly in the 
income statement.  

All the positive goodwill that results of the acquisitions, is recognized as an asset and booked at its 
acquisition cost, not being amortized. 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates is defined as the difference between 
the cost of acquisition and the total or corresponding share of the fair value of the net assets and 
contingent liabilities acquired, depending on the option taken. 

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised directly in the income statement in the year 
the business combination occurs. 

The recoverable amount of the goodwill is assessed annually, regardless the existence of any 
impairment triggers. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. The recoverable 
amount is determined based on the higher between the assets value in use and the market value 
deducted of selling costs, calculated using valuation methodologies supported by discounted cash flow 
techniques, considering market conditions, the time value of money and the business risks. 

Goodwill is no longer adjusted due to changes in the initial estimate of the contingent purchase price 
and the difference is booked in the income statement, or equity, if applicable. 

Purchases and diluition of non-controlling interests 

The acquisition of the non-controlling interests that does not impact the control position of a 
subsidiary is accounted as a transaction with shareholders and, therefore, is not recognized additional 
goodwill resulting from this transaction. The difference between the acquisition cost and the book 
value or fair value of non-controlling interests acquired is recognized directly in reserves. On this 
basis, the gains and losses resulting from the sale of non-controlling interests, that does not impact the 
control position of a subsidiary, are always recognized against reserves. 

Investments in foreign subsidiaries and associates 

The financial statements of the foreign subsidiaries and associates of the Group are prepared in their 
functional currency, defined as the currency of the primary economic environment in which they 
operate or the currency in which the subsidiaries obtain their income or finance their activity. In the 
consolidation process, assets and liabilities, including goodwill, of foreign subsidiaries are converted 
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into euros at the official exchange rate at the balance sheet date. The goodwill existing on these 
investments is valued against reserves. 

Regarding the investments in foreign operations that are consolidated under the full consolidation or 
equity methods, for exchange differences between the conversion to Euros of the opening net assets at 
the beginning of the year and their value in Euros at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date 
for consolidated accounts are charged against consolidated reserves – exchange differences. The 
exchange differences from hedging instruments related to foreign operations are eliminated from profit 
and loss in the consolidation process against the exchange differences booked in reserves resulting 
from those investments. Whenever the hedge is not fully effective, the ineffective portion is accounted 
against profit and loss of the year. 

The income and expenses of these subsidiaries are converted to Euros at an approximate rate of the 
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Exchange differences from the conversion to Euros of the 
profits and losses for the reporting period, arising from the difference between the exchange rate used 
in the income statement and the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date, are recognised in 
reserves - exchange differences. 

On disposal of investments in foreign subsidiaries for which there is loss of control, exchange 
differences related to the investment in the foreign operation and to the associated hedge transaction 
previously recognised in reserves, are transferred to profit and loss as part of the gains or loss arising 
from the disposal. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

The balances and transactions between Group's companies, or any unrealised gains and losses arising 
from these transactions, are eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 
Unrealised gains and losses arising from transactions with associates and jointly controlled entities are 
eliminated in the proportion of the Group's investment in the entity. 

c) Loans and advances to customers 

Loans and advances to customers includes loans and advances originated by the Group which are not 
intended to be sold in the short term and are recognised when cash is advanced to costumers. 

The derecognition of these assets occurs in the following situations: (i) the contractual rights of the 
Group have expired; or (ii) the Group transferred substantially all the associated risks and rewards. 

Loans and advances to customers are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs and fees and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, being presented in the balance sheet net of impairment losses. 

Impairment 

The Group’s policy consists in a regular assessment of the existence of objective evidence of 
impairment in the loan portfolios. Impairment losses identified are charged against results and 
subsequently, if there is a reduction of the estimated impairment loss, the charge is reversed, in a 
subsequent period. 

After the initial recognition, a loan or a loan portfolio, defined as a group of loans with similar credit 
risk characteristics, can be classified as impaired when there is an objective evidence of impairment as 
a result of one or more events and when these have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
loan or of the loan portfolio that can be reliably estimated. 
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According to IAS 39, there are two basic methods of calculating impairment losses: (i) individually 
assessed loans; and (ii) collective assessment. 

 (i) Individually assessed loans 

Impairment losses on individually assessed loans are determined by an evaluation of the exposures on 
a case-by-case basis. For each loan considered individually significant, the Group assesses, at each 
balance sheet date, the existence of any objective evidence of impairment. In determining such 
impairment losses on individually assessed loans, the following factors are considered: 

- Group’s aggregate exposure to the customer and the existence of overdue loans; 

- The viability of the customer’s business and capability to generate sufficient cash flow to service 
their debt obligations in the future; 

- The existence, nature and estimated value of the collaterals; 

- A significant downgrading in the client rating; 

- The assets available on liquidation or insolvency; 

- The ranking of all creditor claims; and 

- The amount and timing of expected receipts and recoveries. 

Impairment losses are calculated by comparing the present value of the expected future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate of the loan, with its current carrying value, being the 
amount of any loss charged in the income statement. The carrying amount of impaired loans is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account. For loans with a variable interest rate, the discount 
rate used corresponds to the effective annual interest rate, which was applicable in the period that the 
impairment was determined. 

Loans that are not identified as having an objective evidence of impairment are grouped on the basis 
of similar credit risk characteristics, and assessed collectively.  

(ii) Collective assessment 

Impairment losses are calculated on a collective basis under two different scenarios: 

- for homogeneous groups of loans that are not considered individually significant; or 

- losses which have been incurred but have not yet been reported („IBNR‟) on loans for which no 
objective evidence of impairment is identified (see last paragraph (i)). 

The collective impairment loss is determined considering the following factors: 

- historical loss experience in portfolios with similar risk characteristics; 

- knowledge of the current economic and credit conditions and its impact on the historical losses level; 
and 

- the estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification. 
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The methodology and assumptions used to estimate the future cash flows are reviewed regularly by 
the Group in order to monitor the differences between estimated and real losses. 

Loans, for which no evidence of impairment has been identified, are grouped together based on similar 
credit risk characteristics for calculating a collective impairment loss. This analysis allows the Group 
to recognize the losses whose identification in individual terms only occurs in future periods. 

In accordance with ‘Carta-Circular’ no. 15/2009 of the Bank of Portugal, loans and advances to 
customers are charged-off when there is no realistic expectation, from an economic perspective, of 
recovering the loan amount. For collateralized loans, the charge-off occurs for the unrecoverable 
amount when the funds arising from the execution of the respective collaterals for the part of the loans 
which is collateralized is effectively received. This charge-off is carried out only for loans that are 
considered not to be recoverable and fully provided. 

d) Financial instruments 

(i) Classification, initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

1) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 

1a) Financial assets held for trading 

The financial assets and liabilities acquired or issued with the purpose of sale or re-acquisition on the 
short term, namely bonds, treasury bills or shares or that are part of a financial instruments portfolio 
and for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit taking or that can be included in 
the definition of derivative (except in the case of a derivative classified as hedging) are classified as 
trading. The dividends associated to these portfolios are accounted in gains arising on trading and 
hedging activities. 

The interest from debt instruments is recognised as net interest income. 

Trading derivatives with a positive fair value are included in Financial assets held for trading and the 
trading derivatives with negative fair value are included in Financial liabilities held for trading. 

1b) Other financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss (‘Fair Value Option’) 

The Group has adopted the Fair Value Option for certain own bond issues. The variations of the 
Group's credit risk related to financial liabilities accounted under the Fair Value Option are disclosed 
in ‘Net gains / (losses) arising from trading and hedging activities’. 

The designation of other financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss is 
performed whenever at least one of the requirements is fulfilled: 

- the assets and liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally at its fair value; 

- the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the accounting mismatch of the transactions; or 

- the assets and liabilities include derivatives that significantly change the cash-flows of the original 
contracts (host contracts). 

The financial assets and liabilities at Fair Value Option are initially accounted at their fair value, with 
the expenses or income related to the transactions being recognised in profit and loss and subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit and loss. The accrual of interest and premium/discount (when 
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applicable) is recognised in Net interest income according to the effective interest rate of each 
transaction, as well as for accrual of interest of derivatives associated to financial instruments 
classified as Fair Value Option. 

2) Financial assets available for sale 

Financial assets available for sale held with the purpose of being maintained by the Group, namely 
bonds, treasury bills or shares, are classified as available for sale, except if they are classified in 
another category of financial assets. The financial assets available for sale are initially accounted at 
fair value, including all expenses or income associated with the transactions. The financial assets 
available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value. The changes in fair value are accounted for 
against fair value reserves until they are sold or an impairment loss exists. On disposal of the financial 
assets available for sale, the accumulated gains or losses recognised as fair value reserves are 
recognised under Net gains / (losses) arising from available for sale financial assets. Interest income 
from debt instruments is recognised in Net interest income based on the effective interest rate, 
including a premium or discount when applicable. Dividends are recognised in the income statement 
when the right to receive the dividends is attributed. 

3) Investments held-to-maturity 

The financial assets held-to-maturity include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturity, for which the Group has the intention and ability to maintain until the 
maturity of the assets and that were not included in the category of financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss or financial assets available for sale. These financial assets are initially 
recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. The interest is calculated using 
the effective interest rate method and recognised in Net interest income. The impairment losses are 
recognised in profit and loss when identified. 

Any reclassification or disposal of financial assets included in this category that does not occur close 
to the maturity of the assets, will require the Group to reclassify the entire portfolio as Financial assets 
available for sale and the Group will not be allowed to classify any assets under this category for the 
following two years. 

4) Loans and receivables - Loans represented by securities 

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determined payments, that are not quoted in a market and 
which the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in a near future, may be classified in this 
category. 

In addition to loans granted, the Group recognises in this category unquoted bonds and commercial 
paper. The financial assets recognised in this category are initially accounted at fair value and 
subsequently at amortised cost net of impairment. The incremental direct transaction costs are 
included in the effective interest rate for these financial instruments. The interest accounted based on 
the effective interest rate method are recognised in Net interest income. 

The impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss when identified. 

5) Other financial liabilities 

The other financial liabilities are all financial liabilities that are not recognized as financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit and loss. This category includes money market transactions, deposits from 
customers and from other financial institutions, issued debt, and other transactions. 
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These financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost. The 
related transaction costs are included in the effective interest rate. The interest calculated at the 
effective interest rate is recognized in Net interest income. 

The financial gains or losses calculated at the time of repurchase of other financial liabilities are 
recognized as Net gains/(losses) from trading and hedging activities when occurred. 

(ii) Impairment 

At each balance sheet date, is made an assessment of the existence of objective evidence of 
impairment. A financial asset or group of financial assets are impaired when there is objective 
evidence of impairment resulting from one or more events that occurred after its initial recognition, 
such as: (i) for listed securities, a prolonged devaluation or a significant decrease in its quoted price, 
and (ii) for unlisted securities, when that event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be estimated reasonably. According to 
the Group's policies, a 30% of depreciation in the fair value of an equity instrument is considered a 
significant devaluation and the 1 year period is assumed to be a prolonged decrease in the fair value 
below the acquisition cost. 
 
If an available for sale asset is determined to be impaired, the cumulative loss (measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 
financial asset previously recognised in the profit or loss) is removed from fair value reserves and 
recognised in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as 
available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurred after the 
impairment loss was recognised in the profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the 
income statement. Recovery of impairment losses on equity instruments classified as financial assets 
available for sale, is recognised as a gain in fair value reserves when it occurs (if there are no reversal 
in the income statement). 

(iv) Embedded derivatives 

Embedded derivatives should be accounted for separately as derivatives if the economic risks and 
benefits of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the host contract, unless the hybrid 
(combined) instrument is not initially measured at fair value with changes through profit and loss. 
Embedded derivatives are classified as trading and recognized at fair value with changes through 
profit and loss. 

e) Derivatives hedge accounting 

(i) Hedge accounting 

The Group designates derivatives and other financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate 
and foreign exchange risk, resulting from financing and investment activities. Derivatives that do not 
qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments. 
 
Derivative hedging instruments are stated at fair value and gains and losses on revaluation are 
recognised in accordance with the hedge accounting model adopted by the Group. A hedge 
relationship exists when: 
 
- at the inception of the hedge there is formal documentation of the hedge; 

- the hedge is expected to be highly effective; 
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- the effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured; 

- the hedge is valuable in a continuous basis and highly effective throughout the reporting period; and 

- for hedges of a forecasted transaction, the transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure to 
variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss. 

When a derivative financial instrument is used to hedge foreign exchange arising from monetary assets 
or liabilities, no hedge accounting model is applied. Any gain or loss associated to the derivative and 
to changes in foreign exchange risk related with the monetary items is recognized through profit and 
loss. 

(ii) Fair value hedge 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedge instruments 
are recognized in profit and loss, together with changes in the fair value attributable to the hedged risk 
of the asset or liability or group of assets and liabilities. If the hedge relationship no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting, the cumulative gains and losses recognized until the discontinuance of 
the hedge accounting are amortized through profit and loss over the residual period of the hedged 
item.  

(iii) Cash flow hedge 

In a hedge relationship, the effective portion of changes in fair value of derivatives that are designated 
and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognized in equity - cash flow hedge reserves. Any gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion of the hedge is immediately recognized in profit and loss when 
occurred.  

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit and loss in the periods in which the hedged 
item will affect profit or loss. 

In case of hedging variability of cash-flows, when the hedge instrument expires or is disposed or when 
the hedging relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, or when the hedge relation 
is revoked, the hedge relationship is discontinued on a prospective basis.  

Therefore, the fair value changes of the derivative accumulated in equity until the date of the 
discontinued hedge accounting can be: 

- Deferred over the residual period of the hedged instrument; or 

- Recognized immediately in results, if the hedged instrument is extinguished. 

In the case of a discontinued hedge of a forecast transaction, the change in fair value of the derivative 
recognized in equity at that time remains in equity until the forecasted transaction is ultimately 
recognized in the income statement. When a forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to profit and loss. 

 (iv) Hedge effectiveness 

For a hedge relationship to be classified as such according to IAS 39, effectiveness has to be 
demonstrated. As such, the Group performs prospective tests at the beginning date of the initial hedge, 
if applicable and retrospective tests in order to demonstrate at each reporting period the effectiveness 
of the hedging relationships, showing that the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are 
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hedged by the changes in the hedged item for the risk being covered. Any ineffectiveness is 
recognized immediately in profit and loss when incurred. 
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(v) Hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation 

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any 
gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in 
equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is immediately recognised in the income 
statement. Gains and losses accumulated in equity related to the investment in a foreign operation and 
to the associated hedge operation are included in the income. 

f) Reclassifications between financial instruments categories 

In October 2008, the IASB issued a change to IAS 39 – Reclassification of Financial Assets 
(Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7: Financial 
Instruments Disclosures). This change allowed an entity to transfer financial assets from Financial 
assets at fair value through profit and loss – trading to Financial assets available for sale, to Loans and 
Receivables - Loans represented by securities or to Financial assets held-to-maturity, as long as the 
requirements described in the standard are met, namely: 

- if a financial asset, at the date of reclassification present the characteristics of a debt instrument for 
which there is no active market; or 

- when there is some event that is uncommon and highly improbable that will occur again in the short 
term, that is, the event can be classified as a rare circumstance. 

The Group adopted this possibility for a group of financial assets. 

Transfers of financial assets recognised in the category of Financial assets available-for-sale to Loans 
and receivables - Loans represented by securities and to Financial assets held-to-maturity are allowed, 
in determined and specific circumstances. 

Transfers from and to Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss by 
decision of the entity (‘Fair value option’) are prohibited. 

g) Derecognition 

The Group derecognizes financial assets when all rights to future cash flows have expired. In a 
transfer of assets, derecognition can only occur either when risks and rewards have been substantially 
transferred or the Group does not maintain control over the assets.  

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when these are discharged, cancelled or extinguished. 

h) Equity instruments 

An instrument is classified as an equity instrument when there is no contractual obligation at 
settlement to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity, independently from its legal 
form, showing a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.  

Transaction costs directly attributable to an equity instruments’ issuance are recognized in equity as a 
deduction to the amount issued. Amounts paid or received related to sales or acquisitions of equity 
instruments are recognized in equity, net of transaction costs.  
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Income from equity instruments (dividends) are recognized when the right to receive this income is 
established and are deducted to equity. 

i) Securities borrowing and repurchase agreement transactions 

(i) Securities borrowing 

Securities lent under securities lending arrangements continue to be recognized in the balance sheet 
and are measured in accordance with the applicable accounting policy. Cash collateral received in 
respect of securities lent is recognized as a financial liability. Securities borrowed under securities 
borrowing agreements are not recognized. Cash collateral placements in respect of securities borrowed 
are recognized under loans and advances to either banks or customers. Income and expenses arising 
from the securities borrowing and lending business are recognized on an accrual basis over the period 
of the transactions and are included in interest income or expense (net interest income).  

(ii) Repurchase agreements 

The Group performs acquisition/sale of securities under reselling/repurchase agreements of securities 
substantially equivalent in a future date at a predetermined price ('repos'/'reverse repos'). The securities 
related to reselling agreements in a future date are not recognized on the balance sheet. The amounts 
paid are recognized in loans and advances to customers or loans and advances to credit institutions. 
The receivables are collateralized by the related securities. Securities sold through repurchase 
agreements continue to be recognized in the balance sheet and are revaluated in accordance with the 
applicable accounting policy. The amounts received from the proceeds of these securities are 
considered as deposits from customers and deposits from credit institutions. 

The difference between the acquisition/sale and reselling/repurchase conditions is recognised on an 
accrual basis over the period of the transaction and is included in interest income or expenses. 

j) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

Non-current assets, groups of non-current assets held for sale (groups of assets together and related 
liabilities that include at least a non current asset) and discontinued operations are classified as held for 
sale when it is intention to sell the referred assets and liabilities and when the referred assets are 
available for immediate sale and its sale is highly probable.  

The Group also classifies as non-current assets held for sale those non-current assets or groups of 
assets acquired exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal, which are available for immediate 
sale and its sale is highly probable.  

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the non-current assets or all 
assets and liabilities in a disposal group, is performed in accordance with the applicable IFRS. After 
their reclassification, these assets or disposal groups are measured at the lower of their cost and fair 
value less costs to sell.  

Discontinued operations and the subsidiaries acquired exclusively with the purpose to sell in the short 
term, are consolidated until the disposal.  

The Group also classifies as non-current assets held for sale, the investments arising from recovered 
loans that are measured initially by the lower of its fair value net of selling costs and the loan's 
carrying amount on the date that the recovery occurs or the judicial decision is formalised.  
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The fair value is determined based on the expected selling price estimated through periodic valuations 
performed by the Group.  

The subsequent accounting of these assets is determined based on the lower of the carrying amount 
and the corresponding fair value net of expenses. In case of unrealised losses, these should be 
recognised as impairment losses against results.  

k) Finance lease transactions 

At the lessee's perspective, finance lease transactions are recorded as an asset and liability at fair value 
of the leased asset, which is equivalent to the present value of the future lease payments. Lease rentals 
are a combination of the financial charge and the amortisation of the capital outstanding. The financial 
charge is allocated to the periods during the lease term to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining liability balance for each period. 

At the lessor's perspective, assets held under finance leases are recorded in the balance sheet as a 
receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. Lease rentals are a combination of the 
financial income and amortization of the capital outstanding. Recognition of the financial result 
reflects a constant periodical return rate over the remaining net investment of the lessor. 

l) Interest income and expense 

Interest income and expense for financial instruments measured at amortised cost are recognized in the 
interest income or expenses (net interest income) through the effective interest rate method. The 
interest related to financial assets available for sale calculated at the effective interest rate method are 
also recognized in net interest income as well as those from assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit and loss.  

The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through 
the expected life of the financial instrument (or, when appropriate, for a shorter period), to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.  

When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example: early payment options) but without 
considering future impairment losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received considered as 
included in the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts directly 
related with the transaction except for assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss.  

If a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an 
impairment loss, interest income is recognised based on the interest rate used to discount the future 
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.  

Specifically regarding the accounting policy for interest on overdue loans’ portfolio are considered the 
following aspects: 

- Interest income for overdue loans with collaterals are accounted for as income, up to the limit of the 
valuation of the collateral valued on a prudent basis, in accordance with IAS 18, assuming that there is 
a reasonable probability of recoverability; and 

- The interests accrued and not paid for overdue loans for more than 90 days that are not covered by 
collaterals are written-off and are recognized only when they are received, in accordance with IAS 18, 
on the basis that its recoverability is considered to be remote. 
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For derivative financial instruments, except those classified as hedging instruments of interest rate 
risk, the interest component is not separated from the changes in the fair value and is classified under 
Net gains / (losses) from trading and hedging activities. For hedging derivatives of interest rate risk 
and those related to financial assets or financial liabilities recognized in the Fair Value Option 
category, the interest component of the changes in their fair value is recognized under interest income 
or expense (Net interest income). 

m) Fee and commission income 

Fees and commissions are recognized according to the following criteria:  

- when are earned as services are provided, are recognised in income over the period in which the 
service is being provided; 

- when are earned on the execution of a significant act, are recognised as income when the service is 
completed. 

Fees and commissions that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument, 
are recognised in net interest income 

n) Fiduciary activities 

Assets held in the scope of fiduciary activities are not recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. Fees and commissions arising from this activity are recognised in the income statement in 
the period in which they occur. 

o) Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Subsequent costs are recognized as a separate asset only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits will result for the Group. All other repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to 
the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis, over the following periods which correspond to 
their estimated useful life: 

  Number of years 
 

 Premises 50 
 Expenditure on freehold and leasehold buildings 10 
 Other fixed assets 4 to 10 
 

Whenever there is an indication that a fixed tangible asset might be impaired, its recoverable amount 
is estimated and an impairment loss shall be recognized if the net value of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is determined as the highest between the fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use calculated based on the present value of future cash-flows estimated to be obtained from 
the continued use of the asset and its sale at the end of the useful life. 
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The impairment losses of the fixed tangible assets are recognised in profit and loss. 

p) Investment property 

Real estate properties owned by the investment funds consolidated in the Group, are recognised as 
Investment properties considering, that the main objective of these buildings is the capital appreciation 
on a long term basis and not its sale in a short term period, or its maintenance for own use. 

These investments are initially recognised at its acquisition cost, including the transaction costs and 
subsequently revaluated at its fair value. The fair value of the investment property should reflect the 
market conditions at the balance sheet date. Changes in fair value are recognised in results as Other 
operating income. 

The expertises responsible for the valuation of the assets are properly certified for that purpose, being 
registered in CMVM. 

q) Intangible Assets 

Software 

The Group accounts as intangible assets the costs associated to software acquired from external 
entities and depreciates them on a straight line basis by an estimated lifetime of three or six years. The 
Group does not capitalise internal costs arising from software development.  

r) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less 
than three months’ maturity from the balance sheet date, including cash and loans and advances to 
credit institutions. 

Cash and cash equivalents exclude restricted balances with Central Banks. 

s) Offsetting 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when the 
Group has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and the transactions are 
intended to be settled on a net basis. 

t) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the 
operation at the foreign exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies, are translated into the respective functional currency of the 
operation at the foreign exchange rate at the reporting date. Foreign exchange differences arising on 
translation are recognized in the profit and loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies, which are stated at historical cost, are translated into the respective functional 
currency of the operation at the foreign exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated into 
the respective functional currency of the operation at the foreign exchange rate at the date that the fair 
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value was determined against profit and loss, except for financial assets available-for-sale, for which 
the difference is recognized against equity. 

u) Employee benefits 

Pensions 

Arising from the signing of the ‘Acordo Colectivo de Trabalho’ (ACT) and subsequent amendments 
resulting from the 3 tripartite agreements, CEMG and other Group entities set up pension funds and 
other mechanisms to cover the liabilities with pensions on retirement and disability, widows’ pension, 
health-care benefits and death subsidy. 

The pension liabilities and health care benefits are covered by funds that are managed by Futuro – 
Sociedade Gestora de Fundos de Pensões, S.A. 

The pension plans of the Group are classified as defined benefit plans, since the criteria to determine 
the pension benefit to be received by employees on retirement are predefined and usually depend on 
factors such as age, years of service and level of salary. 

The liability with pensions is calculated annually by the Group, as at 31 December and 30 June for 
each plan individually, using the projected unit credit method, and is reviewed annually by qualified 
independent actuaries. The discount rate used in this calculation is determined based on market rates 
of emissions associated with high quality corporate bonds, denominated in the currency in which 
benefits will be paid and with a similar maturity to the date of termination of the plan. 

The income / cost of interests with the pension plan is calculated, by the Group, multiplying the net 
asset / liability with retirement pension (liabilities less the fair value of the plan's assets) by the 
discount rate used in the determination of the retirement pension liabilities, mentioned before. On this 
basis, the income / cost net of interests includes the interest costs associated with retirement pension 
liabilities and the expected return of the plan's assets, both measured based on the discount rate used to 
calculate the liabilities. 

Gains and losses from the re-measurement, namely (i) gains and losses resulting from differences 
between actuarial assumptions used and the amounts actually observed (experience gains and losses) 
and changes in actuarial assumptions and (ii) gains and losses arising from the difference between the 
expected return of the plan's assets and the amounts obtained, are recognised against equity under 
other comprehensive income. 

The Group recognises in its income statement a net total amount that comprises (i) the current service 
cost, (ii) the income / cost net of interest with the pension plan, (iii) the effect of early retirement, (iv ) 
past service costs and (v) the effects of any settlement or curtailment occurred during the period. The 
net income / cost with the pension plan is recognised as interest and similar income or interest expense 
and similar costs depending on their nature. The costs of early retirements correspond to the increase 
in liabilities due to the employee's retirement before reaching the age of 65. 

The Group makes payments to the funds in order to maintain its solvency and to comply with the 
following minimum levels: (i) the liability with pensioners shall be totally funded at the end of each 
year, and (ii) the liability related to past services cost with employees in service shall be funded at a 
minimum level of 95%. 

Annually, the Group assesses for each plan separately, the recoverability of any recognised asset in 
relation to the defined benefit pension plans, based on the expectation of reductions in future 
contributions to the funds. 
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Health care benefits 

The Group provides to its banking employees health care benefits through a specific Social-Medical 
Assistance Service. This Social-Medical Assistance Service (SAMS) is an autonomous entity which is 
managed by the respective Union. 

SAMS provides to its beneficiaries services and/or contributions on medical assistance expenses, 
diagnostics, medicines, hospital confinement and surgical operations, in accordance with its financing 
availability and internal regulations. 

The annual contribution of the Group to SAMS amounts to 6.5% of the total annual remuneration of 
employees, including, among others, the holiday and Christmas subsidy. 

The measurement and recognition of the Group’s liability with post-retirement healthcare benefits is 
similar to the measurement and recognition of the pension liability described above. These benefits are 
covered by the Pension Fund which at present covers all responsibilities with pensions and health care 
benefits. 

Long-term service benefits 

In accordance with the ACT ‘Acordo Colectivo de Trabalho’ for the banking sector, the Group has 
assumed the commitment to pay to current employees that achieve 15, 25 and 30 years of service 
within the Group, long-term service premiums corresponding, respectively, to 1, 2 and 3 months of 
their effective monthly remuneration earned at the date the premiums are paid. 

At the date of early retirement or disability, employees have the right to a premium proportional to 
what they would earn if they remained in service until the next payment date. 

These long-term service benefits are accounted for by the Group in accordance with IAS 19 as other 
long-term employee benefits. 

The liability with long-term service benefits is calculated annually, at the balance sheet date, by the 
Group using the projected unit credit method. The actuarial assumptions used are based on the 
expectations about future salary increases and mortality tables. The discount rate used in this 
calculation was determined based on the same methodology described for pensions. 

In each period the increase in the liability for long-term service premiums, including actuarial gains 
and losses and past service costs is charged to the income statement. 

Bonus to employees and to the Executive Board of Directors 

In accordance with IAS 19 Employee benefits, the bonus payment to employees and to the Executive 
Board of Directors is recognised in the income statement in the period to which they relate. 

v) Income taxes 

Until 31 December, 2011, CEMG was an entity free from Income Tax Code (‘IRC’), in accordance 
with subparagraph a) n. 1 of Article 10 of the IRC. This exemption been recognized by Order of 3 
December 1993, the Secretary of State for Fiscal Issues and confirmed by Law no. 10-B/96 of March 
23, approving the State Budget for 1996. 

With effect from 1 January 2012, CEMG is subject to the regime established by the IRC. Additionally, 
deferred taxes resulting from the temporary differences between the accounting net income and the net 
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income accepted by the Tax Authorities for Income Taxes calculation, are accounted for, whenever 
there is a reasonable probability that those taxes will be paid or recovered in the future. 

Income tax registered in net income for the year comprises current and deferred tax effects. Income 
tax is recognised in the income statement, except when related to items recognised directly in equity, 
which implies its recognition in equity. Deferred taxes arising from the revaluation of financial assets 
available for sale and cash flow hedging derivatives are recognised in shareholders’ equity and are 
recognised after in the income statement at the moment the profit and loss that originated the deferred 
taxes are recognised. 

Current tax is the value that determines the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years. 

Deferred taxes are calculated in accordance with the liability method based on the balance sheet, 
considering temporary differences, between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes using the tax rates approved or substantially approved at balance 
sheet date and that is expected to be applied when the temporary difference is reversed. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except for goodwill not 
deductible for tax purposes, differences arising on initial recognition of assets and liabilities that affect 
neither accounting nor taxable profit and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the 
extent that probably they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred taxes assets are recognized to the extent when it is probable that future taxable profits, will 
be available to absorb deductible temporary differences for taxation purposes (including reportable 
taxable losses). 

The Group, as established in IAS 12, paragraph 74, compensates the deferred tax assets and liabilities 
if, and only if: (i) has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities; and (ii) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which 
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle 
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax 
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered. 

w) Segmental reporting 

Since 1 January 2009, the Group adopted the IFRS 8 – Operational Segments for purposes of 
disclosure of financial information by operating segments.  

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that 
are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments.  

The results of the segments are periodically reviewed by Management, for decisions taking purposes. 
The Group prepares on a regular basis, financial information regarding the segments, which is reported 
to the Management. A segment is a group of assets and operations located within a particular 
economic environment that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments 
operating in other economic environments. 
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x) Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when (i) the Group has a present obligation (legal or resulting from past 
practices or published policies that imply the recognition of certain responsibilities), (ii) it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events and (iii) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. 

The measurement of provisions takes into account the principles set in IAS 37 regarding the best 
estimate of the expected cost, the most likely result of current actions and considering the risks and 
uncertainties inherent in the process result.  

On the cases that the discount effect is material, provision corresponds to the actual value of the 
expected future payments, discounted by a rate that considers the associated risk of the obligation. 

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the best estimate, being 
reverted through profit and loss in the proportion of the payments that are not probable. 

The provisions are derecognized through their use for the obligations for which they were initially 
accounted or for the cases that the situations were not already observed.  

y) Insurance or reinsurance mediation services 

The Group is duly authorized by the Portuguese Insurance Institute (Instituto de Seguros de Portugal) 
to provide insurance brokerage services, in the Insurance Brokerage Services area, in accordance with 
the article 8, paragraph a), subparagraph i) of Decree-Law 144/2006 of July 31, operating in the life 
and non life insurance brokerage areas. 

In the insurance brokerage services area, the Group sells insurance contracts. As remuneration for the 
insurance brokerage services rendered, the Group receives commission for brokering insurance 
contracts, which is defined in agreements/protocols established between the Group and the Insurers.  

Commission received for insurance brokerage services refer to: 

- Commission that includes a fixed and a variable component. The fixed component is calculated by 
applying a predetermined rate over the amounts of subscriptions made through the Group and a 
variable component calculated based on predetermined criteria, total annual fees being the sum of the 
fees calculated monthly; and 

- Commission for participation in the results of insurance, which are calculated annually and paid by 
the insurer in the beginning of the year following that to which they refer (up to January 31). 

Commission received for insurance brokerage services are recognized in an accruals basis. Fees paid 
in a different period from that to which it relates is recorded as a receivable in the caption ‘Other 
assets’ by corresponding entry to ‘Commissions received - for insurance brokerage services’. 

The Group does not collect insurance premiums on behalf of Insurers, or receive or pay funds relating 
to insurance contracts. Thus, there are no other assets, liabilities, income or expenses to be recognized 
relating to the insurance brokerage services rendered by the Group, other than those already disclosed. 
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z) Accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies 

IFRS set forth a range of accounting treatments and require the Executive Board of Directors and 
management to apply judgment and make estimates in deciding which treatment is most appropriate. 
The most significant of these accounting policies are discussed in this section in order to improve 
understanding of how their application affects the Group reported results and related disclosure. 

Considering that in some cases there are several alternatives to the accounting treatment chosen by 
management, the Group reported results would differ if a different treatment was chosen. Management 
believes that the choices made are appropriate and that the financial statements present the Group‘s 
financial position and results fairly in all material aspects. 

The alternative outcomes discussed below are presented solely to assist the reader in understanding the 
financial statements and are not intended to suggest that other alternatives or estimates would be more 
appropriate. 

Impairment of available for-sale financial assets 

The Group determines that financial assets available for-sale are impaired when there has been a 
significant or prolonged decrease in the fair value below its acquisition cost. This determination of 
what is significant or prolonged requires judgment. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates 
among other factors, the volatility in the prices of the financial assets. According to the Group's 
policies, a 30% depreciation in the fair value of an equity instrument is considered a significant 
devaluation and the 1 year period is assumed to be a prolonged decrease in the fair value below the 
acquisition cost. 

In addition, valuations are generally obtained through market quotation or valuation models that may 
require assumptions or judgment in making estimates of fair value. 

Alternative methodologies and the use of different assumptions and estimates could result in a higher 
level of impairment losses recognized with a consequent impact in the consolidated income statement 
of the Group. 

Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers 

The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment losses on a regularly basis, as described in 
the accounting policy described in note 1 c). 

The evaluation process in determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income 
statement is subject to numerous estimates and judgments. The probability of default, risk ratings, 
value of associated collaterals recovery rates and the estimation of both the amount and timing of 
future cash flows, among other things, are considered in making this evaluation. 

Alternative methodologies and the use of different assumptions and estimates could result in a 
different level of impairment losses with a consequent impact in the consolidated income statement of 
the Group. 

Fair value of derivatives 

Fair values are based on listed market prices if available, otherwise fair value is determined either by 
dealer price quotations (either for that transaction or for similar instruments traded) or by pricing 
models, based on net present value of estimated future cash flows which take into account market 
conditions for the underlying instruments, time value, yield curve and volatility factors. These pricing 
models may require assumptions or judgments in estimating their values. 
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Consequently, the use of a different model or of different assumptions or judgments in applying a 
particular model could result in different financial results for a particular period. 

Held-to-maturity investments 

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification requires significant 
judgment. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates its intention and ability to hold such 
investments to maturity. 

If the Group fails to keep these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances — for 
example, selling an insignificant amount close to maturity — it will be required to reclassify the entire 
class as available-for-sale. The investments would therefore be measured at fair value instead of 
amortised cost. 

Held-to-maturity investments are subject to impairment tests made by the Group. The use of different 
assumptions and estimates could have an impact on the income statement of the Group. 

Entities included in the consolidation perimeter 

For the purposes of determining entities to include in the consolidation perimeter, the Group assess 
whether it is exposed to, or has rights to, the variable returns from its involvement with the entity (de 
facto control). 

The decision if an entity needs to be consolidated by the Group requires the use of judgment, estimates 
and assumptions in determining to the extend the Group is exposed to the variable returns and its 
ability to use its power to affect those returns. 

Different estimates and assumptions could lead the Group to a different scope of consolidation with a 
direct impact in net income.  

Income taxes 

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant interpretations and 
estimates are required in determining the worldwide amount for income taxes. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary 
course of business. 

Different interpretations and estimates would result in a different level of income taxes, current and 
deferred, recognized in the year. 

The Portuguese Tax Authorities are entitled to review the Bank and its subsidiaries’ determination of 
its annual taxable earnings, for a period of four years or six years in case there are tax losses brought 
forward. Hence, it is possible that some additional taxes may be assessed, mainly as a result of 
differences in interpretation of the tax law which for its probability, the Executive Committee 
considers that there is no relevant material effect at the level of the Financial Statements. 

Pension and other employees benefits 

Determining pension liabilities requires the use of assumptions and estimates, including the use of 
actuarial projections, estimated returns on investment, and other factors that could impact the cost and 
liability of the pension plan. 

Changes in these assumptions could materially affect these values.  
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Goodwill impairment  

The goodwill recoverable amount recognised as a Group's asset, is revised annually regardless the 
existence of impairment losses.  

For this purpose, the carrying amount of the business units of the Group for which goodwill has been 
recognised is compared with the respective recoverable amount. A goodwill impairment loss is 
recognised when the carrying amount of the business unit exceeds the respective recoverable amount.  

In the absence of an available market value, the recoverable amount is determined using cash flows 
predictions, applying a discount rate that includes a risk premium appropriated to the business unit 
being tested. Determining the cash flows to discount and the discount rate, involves judgment.  
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2 Net interest income and net gains arising from available-for 
sale financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 
IFRS requires separate disclosure of net interest income and net gains arising from financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets activities, 
as presented in notes 3, 6 and 7. A particular business activity can generate impact in net interest 
income and net gains arising from trading, hedging and available-for-sale activities. This required 
disclosure, however, does not take into account that net gains arising from assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets and interest and similar income 
activities are generated by a range of different business activities. In many cases, a particular business 
activity can generate both net interest and trading income. 

The amount of this account is comprised of: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Net interest income   81 878   51 331 
Net arising from assets and liabilities at fair value through
   profit and loss and available-for-sale financial assets   209 715   11 133 

 291 593  62 464 
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3 Net interest income 
The amount of this account is comprised of: 

 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Assets / liabilities 
at amortized cost 
and available-for-

sale

Assets / liabilities 
at fair value 

through profit or 
loss

Total

Assets / liabilities 
at amortized cost 
and available-for-

sale

Assets / liabilities 
at fair value 

through profit or 
loss

Total

Interest and similar income:

Interest from loans and advances  128 263 -  128 263  124 644 -  124 644 

Interest from other assets   809 -   809   592 -   592 

Interest from deposits with banks   265 -   265   167 -   167 

Interest from available-for-sale finacial assets  60 457 -  60 457  54 038 -  54 038 

Interest from held-to-maturity financial assets  1 075 -  1 075   170 -   170 

Interest from hedging derivates   207 -   207   121 -   121 

Interest from held for trading financial assets -  26 893  26 893 -  31 009  31 009 

Other interest and similar income  4 384 -  4 384  5 918 -  5 918 

 195 460  26 893   222 353  185 650  31 009  216 659 

Interest and similar expense:

Interest from deposits  81 685 -  81 685  83 636 -  83 636 

Interest from securities issued  24 178 -  24 178  26 299 -  26 299 

Interest from loans  1 104 -  1 104   972 -   972 

Interest from other funding  2 493 -  2 493  6 219 -  6 219 

Interest from hedging derivates   314 -   314   327 -   327 

Interest from held for trading financial assets -  26 877  26 877 -  30 093  30 093 

Other interest and similar expense  3 824 -  3 824  17 782 -  17 782 

 113 598  26 877  140 475  135 235  30 093  165 328 
Net interest income   81  862     16   81  878   50  415     916  51 331 

 

The balance Interest on loans and advances includes, the amount of Euro 4,963 thousands (31 March 
2013: Euro 5,096 thousands) related to commissions and other gains / losses which are accounted for 
under the effective interest method, as referred in the accounting policy described in note 1 l). 

The balance Interest and similar expense – Interest from deposits with banks includes the amount of  
negative Euro 2,664 thousands regarding the accounting of interest on deposits with increasing interest 
rates (31 March 2013: negative Euro 3,969 thousands). 
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4 Dividends from equity instruments 
 The amount of this account is comprised of:  

 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Dividends from available-for-sale financial assets   34   23 

  34   23 

 
The balance Dividends from available for sale financial assets includes dividends and income from 
investment fund units received during the period. 

 

5 Net fee and commission income 
 The amount of this account is comprised of:  

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Fee and commission income:
From banking services  24 143  23 551 
From transactions order by third parties  4 721  4 951 
From insurance activity  1 752  1 558 
From commitments to third parties  2 236  2 003 
Other fee and commission income   224   600 

 33 076  32 663 

Fee and commission expense:
From banking services rendered by third parties  7 443  4 679 
From transactions with securities   141   118 
Other fee and commission expense   671  1 022 

 8 255  5 819 
Net fee and commission income  24 821  26 844 
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6 Net gains/ (losses) arising from financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 
The amount of this account is comprised of: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013
Gains Losses Total Gains Losses Total

Assets and liabilities held for trading
Bonds and other fixed income securities

Issued by public entities   42 -   42   1 -   1 
Issued by other entities   48   27   21   12   2   10 

Shares  1 062  18 178 ( 17 116)  1 854  1 329   525 
Investment units  -  2 671 ( 2 671)   35   8   27 

 1 152  20 876 ( 19 724)  1 902  1 339   563 

Derivative financial instruments
Exchange rate contracts  -  20 115 ( 20 115)  25 007  23 951  1 056 
Interest rate contracts  75 497  34 735  40 762  60 861  87 202 ( 26 341)
Credit default contracts   82   65   17   152   127   25 
Others  5 858  6 902 ( 1 044)  33 803  9 543  24 260 

 81 437  61 817  19 620  119 823  120 823 ( 1 000)

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Bonds and other fixed income securities issued by other entities  1 089   270   819   580 -   580 

 1 089   270   819   580  -   580 

Financial liabilities
Deposits from other credit institutions   59 -   59   112   154 (  42)
Deposits from customers  -   44 (  44)   130  -   130 
Debt securities issued   409   438 (  29)  1 106   844   262 
Other  2 592  2 283   309  1 291  4 620 ( 3 329)

 3 060  2 765   295  2 639  5 618 ( 2 979)
 86 738  85 728  1 010  124 944  127 780 ( 2 836)

 

 

The balance Financial liabilities – Other, includes for financial liabilities instruments arising at fair 
value, losses in the amount of Euro 1.875 thousands (31 March 2013: Euro 6.949 thousands) from fair 
value changes related with changes own credit risk (spread) changes from operations. 

In accordance with the accounting policies followed by the Group, financial instruments are initially 
recognized at fair value. The best evidence of the fair value of the instrument at inception is deemed to 
be the transaction price. However, in particular circumstances, the fair value of a financial instrument 
at inception, determined based on a valuation techniques, may differ from the transaction price, 
namely due to the existence of a built-in fee, originating a day one profit. 

The Group recognizes in the income statement the gains arising from the built-in fee (day one profit), 
generated, namely, on the trading of derivative and foreign exchange financial products, considering 
that the fair value of these instruments at inception and on subsequent measurements is determine only 
based on observable market data and reflects the Group access to the wholesale market. 
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7 Net gains/ (losses) arising from available-for-sale financial 
assets 
The amount of this account is comprised of: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Gains Losses Total Gains Losses Total

Bonds and other fixed income securities
Issued by public entities  197 057   215  196 842  13 531   315  13 216 
Issued by other entities   468   475 (  7)   575   811 (  236)

Shares   517  -   517   132   13   119 
Other variable income securities  11 353  -  11 353   872   2   870 

 209 395   690  208 705  15 110  1 141  13 969 

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

 

As at 31 March 2014, the balance Bonds and other fixed income securities – Issued by public entities 
includes the amount of Euro 196.819 thousands resulting from the sale of treasury bonds of 
Portuguese public debt. 

 
 

8 Net gains/ (losses) from foreign exchange 
 The amount of this account is comprised of:  

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013
Gains Losses Total Gains Losses Total

Foreign exchange differences  15 717  10 799  4 918  18 420  15 004  3 416 

 

This account is comprised of the results from foreign exchange differences of monetary assets and 
liabilities in foreign currency in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1 t). 
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9 Net gains/ (losses) arising from sale of other assets 
The amount of this account is comprised of: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Sale of other assets (  20) (  422)
Sale of real estate properties ( 4 932) ( 1 742)

( 4 952) ( 2 164)

 
The balance Sale of real estate properties is related to the net gains/(losses) from non-current assets 
held for sale.  

 
10 Other operating income 
 The amount of this account is comprised of: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Other operating income
Income from services  1 587  1 622 
Reimbursement of expenses  1 757  2 031 
Profits arising from deposits on demand management  2 256  3 914 
Staff transfer  1 839  2 005 
Other  13 549  5 767 

 20 988  15 339 

Other operating expense
Indirect taxes  3 429  2 522 
Donations and membership   253   97 
Contributions to the Deposit Guarantee Fund   773   799 
Other operating expenses  25 342  9 729 

 29 797  13 147 
Other net operating income ( 8 809)  2 192 

 

As at 31 March 2014, the balance Other operating income – Staff transfer refers to the staff transfer 
carried out by the Group to Montepio Geral Associação Mutualista and other subsidiaries. 

As at 31 December 2013, the balance Repurchase of own securities is calculated in accordance with 
accounting policy described in note 1 d) and refer to the re-acquisition of Euro Medium Term Notes.  
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The caption Specific contribution for the banking Sector is estimated according to the terms of the 
Decree-Law 55-A/2010. The determination of the amount payable focuses on: (i) the annual average 
liability developed in balance deducted from core capital (Tier 1) and supplementary capital (Tier 2) 
and deposits covered by the Deposit Guarantee Fund; and (ii) the notional amount of derivative 
financial instruments. As at 31 March 2014, the Group recognizes as cost expense for the year the 
amount of Euro 1,895 thousands (31 March 2013: Euro 1,050 thousands), included in the balance 
Other operating expenses – Indirect taxes.  

 
11 Staff costs 

The amount of this account is comprised of: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Remunerations  32 897  35 947 
SAMS contributions  8 869  9 628 
Other charges with the pensions fund  2 853  1 128 
Other staff costs  1 381  1 165 

 46 000  47 868 
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12 General and administrative expenses 
The amount of this account is comprised of: 

(Thousands of Euro)  
Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Rental costs  7 448  7 452 
Specialised services

   IT services  2 601  2 180 
   Independent work  1 325  1 118 
   Other specialised services  3 935  3 091 

Advertising costs  1 493  1 072 
Communication costs  2 100  2 085 
Water, energy and fuel  1 005  1 257 
Maintenance and related services  1 187  1 009 
Transportation   706   883 
Insurance   799   618 
Travel, hotel and representation costs   541   424 
Consumables   481   536 
Training costs   40   26 
Other supplies and services  2 847  1 400 

 26 508  23 151  
 

The balance Rents, includes the amount of Euro 6,366 thousands (31 March 2013: Euro 6,240 
thousands) related to rents paid regarding buildings used by the Group as leaser. 
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13 Depreciation and amortisation 
The amount of this account is comprised of: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Intagible assets
Software 4 776 2 948 

4 776 2 948 

Other tangible assets
Land and buildings  960 1 202 
Equipment

Furniture  211  251 
Office equipment  6  26 
Computer equipment 1 401 2 199 
Interior installations  411  84 
Motor vehicles  79  22 
Security equipment  260  185 
Operational lease 1 051  410 

Other tangible assets  36  165 

4 415 4 544 
9 191 7 492 

 

14 Loans impairment 
The amount of this account is comprised of: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Other loans and advances to credit instituitions
Charge for the year   58 - 
Write-back for the year (  327) - 

(  269) - 

Loans and advances to costumers
Charge for the year net of reversals  153 704  19 814 
Recovery of loans and interest charged-off ( 3 967) ( 1 628)

 149 737  18 186 
 149 468  18 186 

 
The balance Loans and advances to customers is related to an estimate of the incurred losses 
determined according with the methodology for a regular evaluation of objective evidence of 
impairment, as referred in accounting policy described in note 1 c). 
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15 Other financial assets impairment 
The amount of this account is comprised of: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Impairment for non-current assets held for sale
Charge for the year  23 558  9 050 
Write-back for the year ( 5 369) ( 4 802)

 18 189  4 248 
 

16 Other assets impairment 
The amount of this account is comprised of: 
 
 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Impairment for non-current assets held for sale
Charge for the year  1 856  9 155 
Write-back for the year ( 1 060) (  587)

  796  8 568 

Impairment for other assets
Charge for the year  2 305   60 
Write-back for the year ( 1 439) (  456)

  866 (  396)
 1 662  8 172 

 
17 Other provisions 

The amount of this account is comprised of: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Provision for liabilities and charges
Charge for the year  39  575 
Write-back for the year ( 340) ( 33)

(  301)   542 
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18 Share of profit of associates under the equity method 
 The contribution of the associated companies accounted for under the equity method is as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Lusitania Vida, Companhia de Seguros, S.A. -   523 
Montepio Seguros, S.G.P.S., S.A.   361 - 
Lusitania, Companhia de Seguros, S.A. - ( 1 827)
Nutre S.G.P.S., S.A. ( 7 752) - 
Iberpartners Cafés, S.G.P.S., S.A. -   23 
HTA - Hotéis, Turismo e Animação dos Açores, S.A. (  146) (  108)

( 7 537) ( 1 389)

 

19 Cash and deposits at central banks 
 This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Cash  144 208  180 217 
Deposits at central banks

Bank of Portugal  229 037  87 459 
Other deposits at central banks  53 819  46 583 

 427 064  314 259 
 

The balance Deposits at central banks includes deposits with the Central Bank to satisfy the legal 
requirements to maintain a cash reserve for which the value is based on the value of deposits and other 
liabilities. The cash reserve requirements, according with the European Central Bank System for Euro 
Zone, establishes the maintenance of a deposit with the Central Bank equivalent to 2% of the average 
value of deposits and other liabilities, during each reserve requirement period. 

As at 31 March 2014, these deposits at Bank of Portugal presented an average interest rate of a 0.25% 
(31 December 2013: 0.25%). The Other deposits at central banks are non-interest-bearing deposits. 
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20 Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand 
 This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Credit institutions in Portugal  171 487  183 356 
Credit institutions abroad  22 722  15 302 
Amounts due for collection  35 306  35 127 

 229 515  233 785 

 

 The balance Amounts due for collection represents essentially check receivable from other credit 
institutions due for collection. 

 

21 Other loans and advances to credit institutions 
 This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Loans and advances to credit institutions in Portugal
Deposits  1 135  1 135 
Loans -  14 865 
Other loans and advances  7 629  4 002 

 8 764  20 002 
Loans and advances to credit institutions abroad

Deposits  9 990  9 990 
Short term deposits  263 309  186 615 
Other loans and advances  101 977  114 266 

 375 276  310 871 
 384 040  330 873 

Impairment for credit risk over credit institutions (  541) (  810)
 383 499  330 063 

 

The main loans and advances to credit institutions in Portugal, as at 31 March 2014, bear interest at an 
average annual interest rate of 0.26% (31 December 2013: 0.35%). 

Loans and advances to banks abroad bear interest at international market rates where the Group 
operates. 
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The changes in impairment for credit risks over credit institutions in the year are analyzed as 
follows:

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Initial balance   810   25 
Charge for the year   58  1 625 
Write-back for the year (  327) (  840)

Final balance   541   810 
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22 Loans and advances to customers 
 This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

2013 2012

Domestic loans
Corporate

Loans 2 299 354 2 419 920 
Commercial lines of credits 1 288 966 1 296 183 
Loans represented by securities  646 066  596 275 
Finance leases  383 194  374 122 
Discounted bills  107 635  112 777 
Factoring  74 839  76 554 
Overdrafts  65 431  55 754 
Other loans 1 178 432 1 055 583 

Retail

Mortgage loans 8 201 724 8 281 270 
Finance leases  79 409  64 624 
Consumer and other loans 1 085 717 1 104 246 

15 410 767 15 437 308 

Foreign loans

Corporate  178 536  109 887 
Retail  55 308  55 306 

15 644 611 15 602 501 
Correction value of assets subject to the hedge 

   Other credits  4 938  5 135 

Overdue loans and interest

Less than 90 days  116 779  121 666 
More than 90 days  946 805  877 365 

1 063 584  999 031 
16 713 133 16 606 667 

Impairment for credit risks (1 202 009) (1 051 526)

15 511 124 15 555 141 
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As at 31 March 2014, the balance Loans and advances to customers includes the amount of  
Euro 2,725,513 thousands (31 December 2013: Euro 2.718.554 thousands) related to the issue of 
covered bonds held by the Group, as referred in note 38. 

As at 31 December 2013, the Group reclassified commercial paper portfolio from financial assets 
available for sale to loans and advances to customers, in the amount of Euro 755,786 thousands and 
impairment in the amount of Euro 21,029 thousands, as described in note 25. 

The Group realized operations conducted under the Programme for the issuance of CEMG Covered 
Bonds: 

− May 2013: Issue of Euro 500,000 thousands; term: 4 years; and interest rate: Euribor 3M + 
0.75%; 

− July 2012: Refund of Euro 655,000 thousands; 

− June 2012: Cancellation of Euro 53,300 thousands, with a score of Euro 1,857 thousands, 
according to note 10; 

− November 2011: Issue of Euro 300,000 thousands; term: 5 years; an interest rate: Euribor 3M + 
0.75%; 

− October 2011: Cancellation of Euro 291,700 thousands, with a score of Euro 17,750 thousands, 
according to note 10. 

− September 2011: Issue of Euro 550,000 thousands; term: 5 years; and interest rate: Euribor 3M + 
0.75%; 

− November 2010: Issue of Euro 500,000 thousands; term: 5 years; an interest rate: Euribor 3M + 
2.5%; 

− December 2009: Issue of Euro 150,000 thousands; term: 7 years; an interest rate: Euribor 3M + 
0.75%; and 

− July 2009: Issue of Euro 1,000,000 thousands; term: 3 years; an interest rate: 3.25%. 

The balance loans and advances to customers includes the effect of traditional securitisation 
transactions, held by SPE’s subject of consolidation under IFRS 10, according with the accounting 
policy described in note 1 b).  

Securitization transactions engaged by Group refer to mortgage loans, consumer loans, leases, 
commercial paper and corporate loans. The securitization transactions are set through specifically 
created SPE. As referred in accounting policy 1 b), when the substance of the relationships with the 
SPEs indicates that the Group holds control of its activities, the SPE are fully consolidated. In the 
balance Correction of asset values subject to hedge operations is accounted the fair value of portfolio 
that is hedge. The valuation is accounted for in the income statement, in accordance with note 1 e). 
The Group evaluates on an ongoing basis the effectiveness of the existing hedge operations. 

Loans and advances to customers include mostly variable interest rate contracts. 
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The balance Financial leases, by the period to maturity as at 31 March 2014, is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Due within     
1 year

1 year to           
5 years

Over 
5 years  Total

Outstanding rents 75 755 269 758 166 281 511 794 
Outstanding interest (16 142) (66 270) (33 627) (116 039)
Residual Values 10 798 18 061 37 989 66 848 

70 411 221 549 170 643 462 603 

Finance leases

 

The balance Financial leases, by the period to maturity as at 31 December 2013, is analyzed as 
follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Due within     
1 year

1 year to           
5 years

Over 
5 years  Total

Outstanding rents 68 781 220 697 204 382  493 860 
Outstanding interest (15 194) (56 184) (52 399) ( 123 777)
Residual Values 7 825 19 688 41 150  68 663 

 61 412  184 201  193 133  438 746 

Finance leases

 

 

The analysis of Overdue loans and interest, by type of credit, is as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Asset-backed loans  507 553  500 663 
Other guarantee loans  277 538  255 474 
Unsecured loans  223 609  191 801 
Public sector loans   695   90 
Foreign loans  7 081  6 086 
Finance leases loans  47 108  44 917 

1 063 584  999 031 
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The analysis of Overdue loans and interests, by type of customer, is as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Corporate
Construction / Production  232 956  224 435 
Investment  225 995  199 332 
Treasury  336 538  306 764 
Other loans  9 109  7 198 

Retail
Mortgage loans  107 527  111 223 
Consumer credit  57 426  56 420 
Other loans  53 620  54 001 

Public sector -   90 

Other segments  40 413  39 568 

1 063 584  999 031 

 

The impairment for credit risks is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Initial balance 1 051 526  922 284 
Charge for the year net of reversals  149 737  307 064 
Recovery of loans and interest charged-off ( 9 248) ( 315 552)
Transfers  9 994  137 730 

Final balance 1 202 009 1 051 526 

 

In accordance with the Group’s policy, interest on overdue loans for a period over 90 days not covered 
by asset-backed guarantees, is only recorded as income when received. 

If the impairment loss decreases in a subsequent period to its initial accounting and this decrease can 
be objectively associated to an event that occurred after the recognition of the loss, the impairment in 
excess is reversed through profit and loss. 

In compliance with note 1 c), loans and advances to customers are charged-off when there are no 
expectations, from an economic point of view, of recovering the loan amount and for collateralized 
loans, when the funds arising from the execution of the respective collaterals was already received. 
This charge-off is carried out for loans that are fully provided. 
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The analysis of the loans charged-off, by type of credit, is as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Asset-backed loans  2 562  32 460 
Other guarateed loans  1 448  125 739 
Unsecured loans  5 238  157 353 

 9 248  315 552 

 

The recovered loans and overdue interest, performed during 1 January and 31 March 2014 and 2013, 
includes the amount of Euro 3,967 thousands and Euro 1,628 thousands, related with the recovery of 
asset-backed loans, as referred in note 14. 

The Group is applying physical collaterals and financial guarantees as instruments to mitigate the 
credit risk. The physical collaterals are mainly mortgages on residential buildings for the mortgage 
portfolio and other mortgages on other types of buildings related to other types of loans. In order to 
reflect the market value, these collaterals are regularly reviewed based on independent and certified 
valuation entities or through the application of evaluation coefficients that reflect the market trends for 
each specific type of building and geographical area. The financial guarantees are reviewed based on 
the market value of the respective assets, when available, with the subsequent application of haircuts 
that reflect the volatility of their prices. 
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23 Financial assets and liabilities held for trading 
The balance financial assets and liabilities held for trading is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dez 2013

Financial assets held for trading: 
Securities

Shares  11 204  7 809 
Bonds   608   584 

 11 812  8 393 

Derivatives 
Derivatives financial instruments with positive fair value  44 907  48 142 

Loans and other receivables  6 808  7 571 

 51 715  55 713 
 63 527  64 106 

Financial liabilities held for trading: 
Securities

Short sales  1 731  1 389 
Derivatives 

Derivatives financial instruments with negative fair value  64 014  60 835 

 65 745  62 224 
 
The balance Derivatives financial instruments with positive fair value includes the amount of  
Euro 11,781 thousands (31 December 2013: Euro 33,278 thousands) referred to instruments associated 
to assets or liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, with the exception of loans and advances to 
customers in the amount of Euro 56 thousands (31 December 2013: Euro 196 thousands). 

The balance Derivatives financial instruments with negative fair value includes the amount of  
Euro 9,041 thousands (31 December 2013: Euro 23,299 thousands) referred to instruments associated 
to assets or liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, with the exception of loans and advances to 
customers in the amount of Euro 2,062 thousands (31 December 2013: Euro 2,161 thousands). 

The trading portfolio is recorded at fair value through profit and loss, in accordance with the 
accounting policy described in note 1 d). As referred in this note, assets held for trading are those 
which were acquired with the purpose of sale or re-acquisition on the short term regardless of its 
maturity. 
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The book value of the assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 March 2014, is 
as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Derivative
Related financial asset / 

liability Notional Fair value

Changes in 
the fair value 

in the year Fair value

Changes in 
the fair value 

in the year Book Value

Reimbursement 
amount at maturity 

date

Interest rate swap Secutities issued  549 506  1 349 ( 4 314)  7 857 ( 7 250)  292 866  299 708 

Interest rate swap Deposits  136 800 ( 1 475) (  314) ( 3 341)  2 022  63 275  339 168 

Interest rate swap Resources  197 718  8 526 ( 1 424)   8 (  420)  69 821  60 000 

Interest rate swap Covered bonds 10 913 635 ( 4 497) (  24) - - - - 

Interest rate swap Loans and advances  50 000 ( 2 041) (  76)  1 863   75  25 346  25 000 

Interest rate swap Other 7 930 876 ( 25 918) ( 5 055) - - - - 

Currency swap -  345 381  4 360  4 750 - - - - 

Forwards -  25 272   13   16 - - - - 

Options -  441 828   498   30 - - - - 

Credit Default Swaps -  22 000   78 (  3) - - - - 

20 613 016 ( 19 107) ( 6 414)  6 387 ( 5 573)  451 308  723 876 

Mar 2014

Derivative Related asset/liability

The book value of the assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2013, 
is as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Derivative
Related financial asset / 

liability Notional Fair value

Changes in 
the fair value 

in the year Fair value

Changes in 
the fair value 

in the year Book Value

Reimbursement 
amount at maturity 

date

Interest rate swap Secutities issued  594 006  5 663 ( 6 392)  15 107 ( 27 808)  356 164  349 095 

Interest rate swap Deposits  89 000 ( 1 161) ( 27 216) ( 5 363)  10 168   484  362 313 

Interest rate swap Resources  185 118  9 950 ( 7 376)   428 ( 8 685)  61 023  60 000 

Interest rate swap Covered bonds 10 901 844 ( 4 473)  1 046 - - - - 

Interest rate swap
Loans and advances

 50 000 ( 1 965)   747  1 788 (  687)  24 646  25 000 

Interest rate swap Others 8 574 941 ( 20 863)  4 188 - - - - 

Currency swap -  394 772 (  390) (  605) -   7 - - 

Forwards -  39 790 (  3) (  13) - - - - 

Options -  395 909   468 (  317) - - - - 

Credit Default Swaps -  25 000   81   255 - - - - 

21 250 380 ( 12 693) ( 35 683)  11 960 ( 27 005)  442 317  796 408 

Dec 2013

Derivative Related asset/liability

 

24 Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
This balance is analyzed as follows: 
 

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Bond issued by other issuers
Foreign   902  3 450 
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The Group’s choice of naming these assets at fair value through profit and loss, according to IAS 39 
and note 1 d), can be observed in the planed strategy of the Group’s management, considering that (i) 
these financial assets are managed and evaluated in a fair value basis and/or (ii) that these assets are 
holding embedded derivative instruments.  

 
25 Financial assets available for sale 

This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014

Impairment
Cost (1) Positive Negative Losses Book Value

Fixed income securities
Issued by public entities

Portuguese 1 978 431  95 994 ( 3 804) - 2 070 621 
Foreign  50 858  4 738 ( 1 318) ( 8 415)  45 863 

Issued by other entities
Portuguese  622 630  6 911 ( 23 285) -  606 256 
Foreign  546 288  25 698 ( 5 347) ( 4 446)  562 193 

Commercial paper  5 797 - - (  998)  4 799 

Variable income securities
Shares

Portuguese  17 659   336 (  16) ( 6 463)  11 516 
Foreign  13 076  2 388 (  59) ( 3 251)  12 154 

Investment fund units  346 095  5 712 ( 8 520) ( 6 898)  336 389 

3 580 834  141 777 ( 42 349) ( 30 471) 3 649 791 

Fair value reserve

(1) Acquisition cost relating to shares and amortised cost relating to debt securities.
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(Thousands of Euro)

Dec 2013

Impairment
Cost (1) Positive Negative Losses Book Value

Fixed income securities
Issued by public entities

Portuguese 3 019 779  50 566 ( 17 162) - 3 053 183 
Foreign  31 209  1 544 ( 1 250) ( 8 415)  23 088 

Issued by other entities
Portuguese  604 692  3 527 ( 23 923) -  584 296 
Foreign  313 878  3 610 ( 4 987) ( 1 859)  310 642 

Commercial paper  31 771 - - (  998)  30 773 

Variable income securities
Shares

Portuguese  19 909   286 (  43) ( 6 463)  13 689 
Foreign  13 557  2 012 (  65) ( 3 251)  12 253 

Investment fund units  538 935  5 545 ( 8 308) ( 18 280)  517 892 

4 573 730  67 090 ( 55 738) ( 39 266) 4 545 816 

Fair value reserve

(1) Acquisition cost relating to shares and amortised cost relating to debt securities.

 

As referred in note 1 d), the portfolio of assets available-for-sale are presented at market value with 
fair value changes accounted for against fair value reserves, as referred in note 47. The Group assesses 
periodically whether there is objective evidence of impairment losses on the available-for-sale 
financial assets, following the judgment criteria’s described in note 1 z). 

IAS 39 – Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement allows the reclassification of unquoted 
financial instruments registered in the portfolio of financial assets available for sale to loans and 
advances to customers. This reclassification is allowed only if the unquoted financial instruments 
correspond to this definition and if there is the intention and the ability to hold the debt instruments for 
the foreseeable future or until maturity. 

According to this standard, the unquoted financial instruments (commercial paper) meet the definition 
of loans and receivables, which means, it is a non derivative financial asset with fixed or determined 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Moreover, the Group has the intention and ability to 
hold these assets until maturity. 

As at the date of reclassification the following aspects are observed: 

− The reclassification of commercial paper from financial assets available for sale to the loans and 
advances to customers is realized at the fair value of the debt instrument at the date of 
reclassification;  
 

− No unrealized gain or loss recognized was recognized in the fair value reserve at the date of 
reclassification; 
 

− The fair value of commercial paper in the reclassification date will become the new cost; 
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− As at the date of reclassification is determined a new effective interest rate as the basis of 
calculation and recognition of interest and amortized cost from that moment; 
 

− The new effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows over 
the remaining expected life of the instruments fair value at the date of reclassification; 
 

− A subsequent change in the fair value of the debt instrument over its new amortized cost is not 
recognized; 
 

− It’s performed a review of subsequent impairment taking into consideration the new amortized 
cost, the new effective interest rate and the expected future cash flows; and 

 
− Any impairment loss, measured as the difference between the new amortized cost and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not incurred) 
discounted at the new effective interest rate determined at the date of reclassification, is 
recognized in profit or loss. 

In this context, as at 31 December 2013, the Group reclassified commercial paper portfolio from 
financial assets available for sale to loans and advances to customers, in the amount of Euro 755,786 
thousands and impairment in the amount of Euro 21,029 thousands, as described in note 22. 

The balance Variable income securities – Investment fund units includes the amount of Euro 81,498 
thousands (31 de December 2013: Euro 81,498 thousands) relating to units in a Fund specialized in the 
recovery of loans acquired under the sale of loans and advances to customers. This amount includes 
Euro 6,153 thousands (31 December 2013: Euro 6,153 thousands) engaged to junior securities 
(investment fund units with a more subordinated character), which are fully provisioned. 

The movements of the impairment of the financial assets available for sale are analyzed as follows: 

(Thousand of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Initial balance  39 266  38 948 
Charge for the year  23 558  68 881 
Write-back for the year ( 5 369) ( 34 859)
Charged-off ( 26 984) ( 33 704)

Final balance  30 471  39 266 

 

As described in note 1 d), the portfolio of financial assets available for sale are presented net of the 
total fair value reserve and impairment. The total fair value reserve for financial assets available for 
sale is positive and amounts to Euro 99,428 thousands (31 December 2013: negative Euro 11,352 
thousands) and impairment amounts to Euro 30,471 thousands (31 December 2013: Euro 39,266 
thousands). 
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This balance, regarding quoted and unquoted securities, is departed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013
Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total

Fixed income securities

Issued by public entities
Portuguese 2 070 621 - 2 070 621 3 053 183 - 3 053 183 
Foreign  45 863 -  45 863  23 088 -  23 088 

Issued by other entities
Portuguese  575 511  30 745  606 256  554 196  30 100  584 296 
Foreign  497 545  64 648  562 193  310 642 -  310 642 

Commercial paper -  4 799  4 799 -  30 773  30 773 

Variable income securities

Shares
Portuguese  1 571  9 945  11 516  9 095  4 594  13 689 
Foreign  11 811   343  12 154  11 910   343  12 253 

Investment fund units  336 389 -  336 389  516 620  1 272  517 892 

3 539 311  110 480 3 649 791 4 478 734  67 082 4 545 816 

 

26 Hedging derivatives 
This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Asset
Interest rate swap   596   503 

Liability
Interest rate swap  1 975  1 849 

 

The Group uses derivatives to hedge interest rate risks. The accounting method depends on the nature 
of the hedged risk, namely if the Group is exposed to fair value changes, variability in cash-flows or 
highly probable forecast transactions.  

The Group performs periodical effectiveness tests of the hedging relationships.  

  



Caixa Económica Montepio Geral 
Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 

31 March, 2014 
 
 

75 
 

The adjustment performed to the assets and liabilities that includes hedged items is analyzed as 
follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dez 2013

Deposits from other credit institutions (  150) (  209)
Financial assets available for sale  1 416  1 478 

 1 266  1 269 
 

 

27 Held-to-maturity investments 
This balance is analyzed as follows: 
 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Fixed income securities:
Bonds issued by Portuguese public entities  6 215  6 149 
Bonds issued by foreign public entities  76 792  28 482 

 83 007  34 631 
 

 

The Group assessed, with reference to 31 March 2014, the existence of objective evidence of 
impairment on its held-to-maturity investments portfolio and no events with impact on the recoverable 
amount of the future cash flows associated with those investments were identified.  
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The held-to-maturity investments, as at 31 March 2013 are analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Issue Issue date Maturity Date Interest Rate Book Value

OT - Outubro 05/15-10-2015 July, 2005 October, 2015 Fixed rate of 3,35%  6 215 
Netherlands Government 05/2015 June, 2005 July, 2015 Fixed rate of 3,25%  5 085 
Republic of Austria 04/15-07-2015 May, 2004 July, 2015 Fixed rate of 3,50%  2 043 
Belgium Kingdom 05/28-09-2015 March, 2005 September, 2015 Fixed rate of 3,75%  2 022 
Buoni Poliennali del Tes. 05/2015 May, 2005 August, 2015 Fixed rate of 3,75%  1 994 
OT Angola 12/18-07-2014 July, 2012 July, 2014 Fixed rate of 6,98%  1 144 
OT Angola 12/18-07-2014 July, 2012 July, 2014 Fixed rate of 6,98%  1 146 
OT Angola 12/25-07-2014 July, 2012 July, 2014 Fixed rate of 6,98%  3 714 
OT Angola 12/25-07-2014 July, 2012 July, 2014 Fixed rate of 6,99%  3 710 
OT Angola 13/04-12-2015 December, 2013 December, 2015 Fixed rate of 7,00%  3 809 
OT Angola 13/04-12-2016 December, 2013 December, 2016 Fixed rate of 7,25%  3 812 
OT Angola 13/15-11-2015 November, 2013 November, 2015 Fixed rate of 5,00%  24 682 
OT Angola 13/15-11-2016 November, 2013 November, 2016 Fixed rate of 5,00%  19 005 
OT Angola 13/15-11-2017 November, 2013 November, 2017 Fixed rate of 5,00%  4 575 
OT Cabo Verde 13/28-04-2016 April, 2013 April, 2016 Fixed rate of 5,50%   51 

 83 007 

The held-to-maturity investments are stated in accordance with the established in note 1 d). 

During the periods of 3 months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Group did not transfer to or from 
this assets category.  

 

28 Investments in associated companies 
This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2012

Investments in associated companies
Montepio Seguros, S.G.P.S., S.A.  25 935  22 031 
Nutre S.G.P.S., S.A.  8 973  15 936 
HTA – Hotéis, Turismo e Animação dos Açores, S.A.  3 281  3 412 
Iberpartners Cafés S.G.P.S., S.A.  1 020  1 020 
Pinto & Bulhosa, S.A.   191   191 
Naviser – Transportes Marítimos Internacionais, S.A.   150   150 

Unquoted  39 550  42 740 
Impairment of investments in associated companies and other (  341) (  341)

 39 209  42 399 
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The financial information concerning associated companies is presented in the following table: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Assets Liabilities Equity Income

  
(Loss) for 
the year 

Acquisition 
cost

31 March 2014
Montepio Seguros, S.G.P.S., S.A. n.d. n.d.  88 069 n.d.  1 074  65 100 
HTA - Hóteis, Turismo e Animação dos Açores, S.A.  42 756  26 352  16 404   882 (  729)  3 200 
Iberpartners Cafés S.G.P.S., S.A. n.d. n.d. n.d. n.d. n.d.  1 000 
Nutre S.G.P.S., S.A.  129 293  131 170 ( 1 877)  29 264 ( 38 878)  22 018 

31 December 2013
Montepio Seguros, S.G.P.S., S.A.  998 162  924 847  73 315  248 293 ( 23 864)  65 100 
HTA - Hóteis, Turismo e Animação dos Açores, S.A.  43 416  26 357  17 059  8 200 (  1)  3 200 
Iberpartners Cafés S.G.P.S., S.A.  5 117  1 644  3 473   151   79  1 000 
Nutre S.G.P.S., S.A.  173 314  140 377  32 937  8 868 ( 9 654)  22 018 

 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013 Mar 2014 Dec 2013 Mar 2014 Dec 2013
% %

Montepio Seguros, S.G.P.S., S.A. 33,65% 33,65%  22 031  22 031   361 ( 7 926)
HTA - Hóteis, Turismo e Animação dos Açores, S.A. 20% 20%  3 412  3 412 (  146) - 
Iberpartners Cafés S.G.P.S., S.A. 29,41% 29,41%  1 020  1 020 -   23 
Nutre S.G.P.S., S.A. 20% 20%  8 973  15 936 ( 7 752) ( 1 931)
Pinto & Bulhosa, S.A. 16% 16% - - - - 
Naviser - Transportes Marítimos Internacionais, S.A. 20% 20% - - - - 

Percentage held Book value
Associated companies 

net profit

 

 

The movements for this balance are analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Initial balance  42 740  61 177 
Acquisitions -  65 100 
Associated companies net profit ( 7 537) ( 12 682)
Fair value reserve from associates  4 347 ( 31 774)
Dividends received - (  944)
Disposals - ( 38 137)

Final balance  39 550  42 740 

 

At the end of 2013, under the restructuring of Group Montepio Geral was undertaken a reorganization 
of the financial investments associated with the insurance and pension sectors. In this context, on 27 
December 2013 was created Montepio Seguros, S.G.P.S., S.A. in order to manage the equity of the 
mentioned sectors.  

The Group sold the shares directly held in Lusitania Vida – Companhia de Seguros, S.A. and Lusitania 
– Companhia de Seguros, S.A. to Montepio Seguros, S.G.P.S., S.A., having both been reimbursed for 
supplementary capital contributions in the amount of Euro 18,750 thousands. Additionally, acquired 
33.65% of the capital of Montepio Seguros, S.G.P.S., S.A. for Euro 46,350 thousands, and carried 
supplementary capital contributions in the amount of Euro 18,750 thousands. 
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After this operation, the capital of Montepio Seguros, which is fully paid, rose to Euro 137,750 
thousands, being arrested in 52.63% by Montepio Geral – Associação Mutualista, in 33.65% by the 
Group, in 8.35% by Lusitania, in 3.37% by Futuro and in 2.11% by Lusitania Vida. 

 

29 Non-current assets held for sale 
This balance is analyzed as follows. 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Investments arising from recovered loans  770 403  773 540 
Impairment for non-current assets held for sale ( 92 830) ( 92 152)

 677 573  681 388 

 

The assets included in this balance are accounted for in accordance with the note 1 j).   

The balance Investments arising from recovered loans includes buildings and other assets resulting 
from the foreclosure of contracts of loans to customers, originated by (i) delivery of the assets, with 
option to repurchase or leasing, accounted with the celebration of the contract or the promise to deliver 
the asset and the respective irrevocable power of attorney issued by the customer in the name of the 
Group; or (ii) the adjudication of the assets as a result of a judicial process of guarantees execution, 
accounted with the title of adjudication or following the adjudication request after the record of the 
first (payment prosolvency). 

According to the Group’s expectation, these assets are available for sale in a period less than 1 year 
and the Group has a strategy for its sale.  

The movements for non-current assets held for sale are analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Initial balance  773 540  521 849 
  Acquisitions  55 475  458 304 
  Sales ( 58 539) ( 207 351)
  Other movements (  73)   738 

Final balance  770 403  773 540 
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The movements for impairment for non-current assets held for sale are analyzed as follows:  

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Initial balance  92 152  30 054 
Impairment for the year  1 856  71 885 
Write-back for the year ( 1 060) ( 9 787)
Loans charged-off (  118) - 

Final balance  92 830  92 152 

 

30 Investment properties 
The balance Investment properties considers the real estate properties owned by “Finipredial - Fundo 
de Investimento Aberto”, “Montepio Arrendamento – Fundo de Investimento Imobiliário Fechado 
para Arrendamento Habitacional”, “Polaris – Fundo de Investimento Imobiliário Fechado de 
Subscrição Particular” and “Carteira Imobiliária – Fundo Especial de Investimento Imobiliário 
Aberto”, which are fully consolidated, according to the accounting policy described in note 1 b).  

The real estate properties are measured in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1 
p). 
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31 Property and equipment  
This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2014

Cost
Land and buildings

For own use  34 661  34 577 
Leasehold improvements in rented buildings  52 754  52 695 
Construction in progress  20 847  21 968 

Equipment
Furniture  21 902  21 796 
Office equipment  3 359  3 354 
Computer equipment  84 411  84 367 
Interior installations  21 395  21 359 
Motor vehicles  4 935  4 803 
Security equipment  7 683  7 678 
Other equipment   5   5 

Works of art  2 869  2 869 
Assets in operacional lease  27 829  25 653 
Assets in finance lease   38   38 
Other tangible assets  2 440  2 439 
Work in progress  3 930  2 038 

 289 058  285 639 

Accumulated depreciation
Charge for the year ( 4 415) ( 19 737)
Accumulated charge for the previous years ( 164 613) ( 145 410)

( 169 028) ( 165 147)
 120 030  120 492 
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32 Intangible assets 
 This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Cost

Software 59 338 59 307 
Revaluation and consolidation differences (Goodwill) 53 024 53 024 
Other intangible assets 4 279 5 609 
Work in progress 3 894  216 

120 535 118 156 

Accumulated depreciation
Charge for the year (4 776) (13 615)
Accumulated charge for the previous years (31 032) (18 750)

( 35 808) ( 32 365)

Impairment for intangible assets ( 26 512) ( 26 512)

58 215 59 279 
 

 

The balance Revaluation and consolidation differences (Goodwill), represents the fair value of assets 
and liabilities of Finibanco Group acquired by the Group on March 31, 2011 to Montepio Geral – 
Associação Mutualista, as described in note 1 a). 

According to the accounting policy described in note 1 b), the recoverable amount of the Goodwill is 
annually assessed, regardless of the existence of impairment triggers or, in accordance with the 
paragraph 9 of the IAS 36, every time there are indicators that the asset might be impaired. 

This intangible asset does not have finite useful life, so that, as referred in accounting policy described 
in note 1 b) and 1 z), its recoverable amount is annually reviewed, regardless of the existence of 
impairment signs. Any impairment losses are recognized in income statement. 

In accordance with IAS 36 the recoverable amount of goodwill should be the greater between its value 
on use (the present value of the future cash flows expected from its use) and its fair value less costs to 
sell. Based on this criteria, the Group made valuations to their investments for which there is goodwill 
recorded which considered among other factors: 

(i) an estimate of future cash flows generated by each entity; 

(ii) an expectation of potential changes in the amounts and timing of cash flows; 

(iii) the time value of money; 

(iv) a risk premium associated with the uncertainty by holding the asset; and 

(v) other factors associated with the current situation of financial markets. 
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The valuations were based on reasonable and sustainable assumptions representing the best estimate of 
the Executive Board of Directors on the economic conditions that affect each entity, the budgets and 
the latest projections approved by the Executive Board of Directors for those entities and their 
extrapolation to future periods. The assumptions made for these assessments may vary with the change 
in economic conditions and in the market.  

 

33 Taxes 
With effect from 1 January 2012, CEMG is subject to the regime established by the Income Tax Code 
("IRC"). Therefore, and based on the applicable law, the temporary differences between accounting 
income and the results accepted for tax purposes of IRC, whenever there is a reasonable that such 
taxes will be paid or recovered in the future, according to the in the accounting policy described in 
note 1 v) are eligible for the recognition of deferred taxes. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2014 and 31 December 2013 are analyzed as 
follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Assets Libilities Net
Mar 2014 Dec 2013 Mar 2014 Dec 2013 Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Financial instruments  14 203  17 784 ( 47 508) ( 25 872) ( 33 305) ( 8 088)
Other tangible assets   21 (  24) (  351) (  421) (  330) (  445)
Provisions  225 844  195 784 - -  225 844  195 784 
Benefits to employees  39 269  40 063 - -  39 269  40 063 
Others  1 072  1 151 (  63) ( 3 926)  1 009 ( 2 775)
Tax losses carried forward  87 026  111 725 - -  87 026  111 725 

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)  367 435  366 483 ( 47 922) ( 30 219)  319 513  336 264 

 

Deferred taxes are calculated at the tax rates expected to be in force when the temporary differences 
are reversed, which correspond to the rates approved or substantively approved at the balance sheet 
date. 

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented on a net basis whenever, in accordance with 
applicable law, current tax assets and current tax liabilities can be offset and when the deferred taxes 
are related to the same tax. 

As a result of the Law no. 2/2014 of 16 January, several amendments were made to the Income Tax 
Code (IRC) with impact on deferred taxes calculated on 31 December 2013, which are: 

- the reduction of the income tax rate from 25% to 23% and the creation of the state tax rate of 3% to 
7% applied to the portion of the taxable income; 

- changing in the reporting period of tax losses (calculated in periods beginning on or after 1 January, 
2014) from 5 to 12 years; 

- the non-taxation of gains taxable and non-tax deduction of losses arising on sale of equity shares, 
since verified a set of requirements, and full tax deduction of losses arising on investments due to the 
settlement of companies. 
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The deferred tax rate is analyzed as follows: 

Mar 2014
%

Dec 2013
%

Income tax (a) 23,0% 23,0%
Municipal surtax rate 1,5% 1,5%
State tax rate 5,0% 5,0%

Total (b) 29,5% 29,5%
(a) - Applicable to deferred taxes related to tax losses; 
(b) - Applicable to deferred taxes related to temporary differences 
 
 
The Group evaluated the recoverability of its deferred tax assets on the balance sheet based on the 
expectations of future taxable profits. 

Deferred taxes related to the losses carried forward are recognized only if the existence of 
future taxable profits is probable. The uncertainty of the recoverability of the tax losses 
carried forward is considered in the deferred tax assets calculation. 

Deferred tax balance movements were recognized as follows:
(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Initial balance  336 264  265 454 
Charged to profit  9 296  85 448 
Charged to reserves and retained earnings ( 26 047) ( 14 638)

Final balance (Asset/ (Liability))  319 513  336 264 

 
Tax recognized in the income and reserves for the periods ended 31 March, 2014 and 31 December, 
2013 is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013
Charged to 

results
Charged to 

reserves
Charged to 

results
Charged to 

reserves

Financial instruments - (  25 217) - (  8 088)
Other tangible assets    115 - -    40 
Provisions   31 061 (  1 001)   42 555 - 
Post-employment benefits (   39) (   755)    909 (  2 556)
Others   2 858    926 (  2 490) (  4 034)
Tax losses carried forward (  24 699) -   44 474 - 

Deferred taxes   9 296 (  26 047)   85 448 (  14 638)

Current taxes (  22 489) - (  9 469) - 

Total recognized tax (  13 193) (  26 047)   75 979 (  14 638)
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Net deferred tax assets changes includes the deferred tax expenses for the year recognized in the profit 
and loss account, as well as the changes recognized in reserves and retained earnings, namely the 
impact resulting from the changes, of the accounting policy for the recognition of actuarial gains and 
losses related with pension and post employment benefits, for the year and for previous years and 
unrealized gains and losses resulting from the revaluation of financial assets available for sale 
recognized in Equity. 

The reconciliation of the effective tax rate is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

% Amount % Amount

Profit before taxes   49 349 (  372 452)
Banking levy -   5 109 
Profit before tax for the tax reconciliation   49 349 (  367 343)

Statury tax rate   23,0   25,0 
Income tax calculated based on the statury tax rate   11 350 (  91 836)
Non deductible costs (  52,2)   25 738 (  50,7)   186 332 
Tax-exempt profits   0,1 (   45)   9,3 (  34 097)
Utilization of tax losses   47,0 (  23 199) - - 
Autonomous taxation and other taxes (  23,7)   11 691 (  2,6)   9 469 
Other   25,0 (  12 342) (  1,7)   6 111 

Tax for the year (  26,7)  13 193 (  20,4)  75 979 

 
The Group evaluated the recoverability of its deferred tax assets on the balance sheet based on the 
expectations of future taxable profits. 

 

34 Other assets 
This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Recoverable subsidies from Portuguese Government  6 641  8 111 
Other debtors  109 778  122 190 
Other accrued income  6 511  8 998 
Prepayments and deferred costs  4 378  2 448 
Sundry debtors  65 484  42 246 

 192 792  183 993 

Impairment for other assets ( 13 445) ( 11 732)

 179 347  172 261 
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The balance Recoverable subsidies from Portuguese Government corresponds to mortgage credit 
interest subsidies, in accordance with the regulations applicable to mortgage loans benefits. The 
referred amounts do not bear interest and are claimed monthly. 

As at 31 March 2014 and 31 December 2013, the balance Recoverable subsidies from the Portuguese 
Government is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Recoverable subsidies from the Portuguese Government unliquidated   812  3 381
Subsidies unclaimed  2 492   762
Overdue subsidies unclaimed  3 337  3 968

 6 641  8 111
 

 

The balance Sundry debtors includes, as at 31 March 2014, the amount of Euro 17,309 thousands (31 
December 2013: 8,027 Euro thousands) refer to transactions with securities recorded on trade date and 
pending settlement. 

The balance Sundry debtors also includes the amount of Euro 1,286 thousands (31 December 2013: 
Euro 1,572 thousands) relating to net assets recognized in balance sheet and representing the excess 
coverage of pension liabilities, health benefits and death subsidies. 

The impairment for other assets is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Initial balance  11 732  3 636 
Impairment for the year  2 305  1 654 
Write-back for the year ( 1 439) ( 2 470)
Transfers   847  8 912 

Final balance  13 445  11 732 

 

35 Deposits from central banks 

As at 31 March 2014 and 31 December 2013, this balance is related to deposits obtained in the 
European System of Central Banks and is covered by securities from the available-for-sale portfolio 
pledged as collaterals portfolio of financial assets available-for-sale. 
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The analysis of deposits from Central Banks by the period to maturity is as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Up to 3 months 1 640 057 1 768 860 
More than 6 months 1 327 980 1 658 494 

2 968 037 3 427 354 

 
36 Deposits from other financial institutions  

This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Non-interest 
bearing

Interest 
bearing Total

Non-interest 
bearing

Interest 
bearing Total

Deposits from credit institutions in Portugal  11 953  84 747  96 700   143  53 321  53 464
Deposits from credit institutions abroad  225 259  307 563  532 822  40 668  380 365  421 033

 237 212  392 310  629 522  40 811  433 686  474 497

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

 

 

As at 31 March 2014, this balance includes the amount of Euro 70,499 thousands (31 December 2013: 
Euro 71,094 thousands) related to deposits at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

37 Deposits from customers 
This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Non-interest 
bearing

Interest 
bearing Total

Non-interest 
bearing

Interest 
bearing Total

Deposits repayable on demand  213 826 2 149 375 2 363 201  256 309 2 233 635 2 489 944 
Time deposits - 11 479 358 11 479 358 - 11 497 167 11 497 167 
Saving accounts -  128 384  128 384 -  130 589  130 589 
Other items  10 395 -  10 395  19 765 -  19 765 
Adjustments arising from hedging operations  3 341 -  3 341  5 363 -  5 363 

 227 562 13 757 117 13 984 679  281 437 13 861 391 14 142 828 

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

In the terms of the law, the deposit guarantee fund was established to guarantee the reimbursement of 
funds deposited in credit institutions. The criteria to calculate the annual contributions to the referred 
fund are defined by Regulation no. 11/94 of Bank of Portugal. 

As at 31 March 2014 and 31 December 2013, this balance includes the amount of Euro 374,226 
thousands related to deposits recognized on the balance sheet at fair value through profit or loss. 
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38 Debt securities issued 
This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Euro Medium Term Notes(EMTN)  131 421  357 803 
Bonds 2 046 964 1 717 872 
Covered bonds -   80 
Commercial paper  34 767  243 673 

2 213 152 2 319 428 
 

As at 31 March 2014, this balance includes the amount of Euro 211,261 thousands  
(31 December 2013: Euro 273,233 thousands) related to debt securities issued recognized at the 
balance sheet at fair value through profit or loss. 

During 2014, the Group issued Euro 125,813 thousands (31 December 2013: Euro 1,515,987 
thousands) of debt securities and performed the refund of Euro 323,336 thousands (31 December 
2013: Euro 1,250,588 thousands). 

Under the Issuance of covered bonds program, which maximum amount is Euro 5,000 million, the 
Group proceed to the emissions which totalized Euro 2,000 million. The main characteristics of these 
issues are as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Description Nominal 
value Book value Issue date Maturity date

Interest 
payment Interest rate

Rating 
(Moody´s/Fitch/Dbrs)

Covered bonds - 2S 1 000 000 1 000 456 Dec. 2009 Dec. 2016 Quarterly Euribor 3M + 0,75% Ba1/BBB/AL
Covered bonds - 3S  500 000  502 158 Nov. 2010 Nov. 2015 Quarterly Euribor 3M + 2,5% Ba1/BBB/AL
Covered bonds- 4S  500 000  500 123 May. 2013 May. 2017 Annually Euribor 1M + 0,75% Ba1/BBB/AL

2 000 000 2 002 737 

 

The covered bonds are guaranteed by a cover assets pool, comprised of mortgage credit assets and 
limited classes of other assets, that the issuer of mortgage covered bonds shall maintain segregated and 
over which the holders of the relevant covered bonds have a statutory special creditor privilege. These 
conditions are set up in Decree-Law no. 59/2006, Regulations no. 5/2006, no. 6/2006, no. 7/2006 and 
no. 8/2006 of the Bank of Portugal and Instruction no. 13/2006 of the Bank of Portugal. 

The amount of credits that collateralize these emissions is higher than Euro 2,725,513 thousands  
in 31 March, 2014 (31 December 2013: Euro 2,718,554 thousands), according with note 22. 

In accordance with the note 1 d), debt issued repurchased by the Group is derecognized from the 
balance sheet and the difference between the carrying amount of the liability and its acquisition cost is 
recognized in the income statement. 
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As at 31 March 2014, for the bonds issued bear postponed and anticipated interest at an 
effective interest rate ranging between 0.5% and 11.92% (31 December 2013: 0.5% and 
16.76%). 
 

39 Financial liabilities relating to transferred  assets 
This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Pelican Mortgages No. 3  190 360  194 287 
Others  3 550   762 

 193 910  195 049 

 
40 Provisions 
 This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Other provisions for liabilities and charges  6 984  8 014 
 

 

The movements of the provisions for liabilities and charges are analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Initial balance  8 014  14 292 
Charge for the year   39  3 444 
Write-back for the year (  340) (  248)
Transfers (  729) ( 9 474)

Final balance  6 984  8 014 
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41 Other subordinated debt 
As at 31 March 2014, the mainly characteristics of the Other subordinated debt, are analyzed as 
follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Issue Issue 
date

Maturity 
date

Issue 
amount Interest rate Book Value

CEMG/06 Apr.2006 Abr.2016 50 000 Euribor 3 months+0.95% 26 140 
CEMG/08 Fev.2008 Fev.2018 150 000 Euribor 6 months+1.5% 120 784 
CEMG/08 Jun.2008 Jun.2018 28 000 Euribor 12 months+1.5% 18 267 
CEMG/08 Jul.2008 Jul.2018 150 000 Euribor 6 months+1.5% 120 489 
FNB 08/18 1ª/2ª Série Dec.2008 Dez.2018 10 363 Euribor 6 months+0.15% (iv) 10 419 
FNB Rendimento Seguro 05/15 Jun.2005 Jun.2015  238 6.25%*VN Min.(quote) (iii)  239 
FNB Grandes empresas 07/16_ 1ª série May.2007 Mai.2016 1 745 Max.(0;6.0%*(1-n/5)) (i) 2 139 
FNB Grandes empresas 07/16 2ª/3ª série Jun.2011 Jun.2016 22 602 Max.(0;6.0%*(1-n/5)) (i) 23 115 
FNB Indices estratégicos 07/17 1ª série May.2007 Jun.2015 13 207 6.25%*VN Min.(quote) (ii) 13 391 
FNB Indices estratégicos 07/17 2ª/3ª série Jun.2011 Jun.2015 26 629 6.25%*VN Min.(quote) (ii) 28 508 
Ob. Cx Subordinadas Finicrédito Nov.2007 Nov.2017 16 550 Tx base+0,90% (barrier level ) 15 718 

 379 209 

(7 285)

 371 924 
Corr. Liability value

 

As at 31 March 2014 the effective interest rate range of the subordinated debt bears postponed interest 
every three and six months is set between 0.30% and 2.02% (31 December 2013: 0.86% and 2.084%). 
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References: 

Coupon Interest rate/range

1º Coupon 5,50%
2º Coupon 5,50%
3º Coupon Max [0; 6.0% * (1-n/3)]
4º Coupon Max [0; 6.0% * (1-n/4)]
5º Coupon Max [0; 6.0% * (1-n/5)]
6º Coupon Max [0; 6.0% * (1-n/6)]
7º Coupon Max [0; 6.0% * (1-n/7)]
8º Coupon Max [0; 6.0% * (1-n/8)]
9º Coupon Max [0; 6.0% * (1-n/9)]

Notes:

(i) - The following cupons will be paid, on the year end of each year (May 9, to the 1st série and Junho 20, to the 2nd and 3rd series):

where, n is the accumulated number of reference entities in which a credit event has occurred

If a merge between two or more reference entities had occur and if a credit event occur in the merged entity, it will be accounted many credit events as the number of merged companies.

(ii) - The payment will be annually and it will be equal:

Coupon Interest rate/ range

1st year 5.5% * notional
2nd year 5.5% * notional
3rd and the following 6.25% * notional if Min (SDk/SD0-SXk/SX0; HSk/HS0- SXk/SX0) > Barreirak ***

*** if not = 0%, where:

 Barreira 3 = Barrier to be applied on 3rd cupon = 0%;
 Barreira 5 = Barrier to be applied on 5th cupon = 2%;
 Barreira 6 = Barrier to be applied on 6th cupon = 3%;
 Barreira 7 = Barrier to be applied on 7th cupon = 4%;
 Barreira 8 = Barrier to be applied on 8th cupon = 5%;
 Barreira k = Barrier to be applied on k*cupon
 SDk – Closing of Eurostoxx Select Dividend (Bloomberg: SD3E) on observation date  K (K=1 to 6)
 SD0 – Closing of Eurostoxx Select Dividend (Bloomberg: SD3E) at beginning date
 SXk – Closing of Eurostoxx50 Total Return (Bloomberg: SX5T) on observation date K (K=1 a 6)
 SX0 – Closing of Eurostoxx50 Total Return (Bloomberg: SX5T) at beginning date
 HSk – Closing of HS60 Europe (Bloomberg: HS60EU) on observation date K (K=1 a 6)
 HS0 – Closing of HS60 Europe (Bloomberg: HS60EU) at beginning date

 

(iii) - The payment will be semiannual, with a minimum of 1% and a maximum of 5%, and it will be calculated according with the following formula (annual rate):

n/N * 5% +m/N * 1%

where:
n is the number of working days of the respective period in which Euribor 6 months will be in the fixed range;
m is the number of working days of the respective period in which Euribor 6 months will be outside the fixed range;
N is the number of working days of the respective period.

Note:

Range is defined on the following table for each coupon:

Period Coupon date Range

1st semester 09-Dec-05 [1,60; 2,75%]
2nd semester 09-Jun-06 [1,60; 3,00%]
3rd semester 09-Dec-06 [1,60; 3,25%]
4th semester 09-Jun-07 [1,60; 3,50%]
5th semester 09-Dec-07 [1,60; 3,50%]
6th semester 09-Jun-08 [1,70; 3,75%]
7th semester 09-Dec-08 [1,70; 3,75%]
8th semester 09-Jun-09 [1,70; 4,00%]
9th semester 09-Dec-09 [1,80; 4,00%]
10th semester 09-Jun-10 [1,80; 4,25%]
11th semester 09-Dec-10 [1,80; 4,25%]
12th semester 09-Jun-11 [1,80; 4,50%]
13th semester 09-Dec-11 [1,90; 4,50%]
14th semester 09-Jun-12 [1,90; 4,50%]
15th semester 09-Dec-12 [1,90; 4,50%]
16th semester 09-Jun-13 [1,90; 4,50%]
17th semester 09-Dec-13 [2,00; 4,50%]
18th semester 09-Jun-14 [2,00; 4,50%]
19th semester 09-Dec-14 [2,00; 4,50%]
20th semester 09-Jun-15 [2,00; 4,50%]  

(iv) - The payment will be semiannual and the first coupon will be fixed:

Coupon Interest rate/ Range
1st coupon 6.50% (annual rate)
between 2nd and 10th cc Euribor 6M + 1.50% (annual rate)
11th and following Euribor 6M + 1.75% (annual rate)  
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42 Other liabilities 
 This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Creditors
Suppliers  10 564  16 065 
Other creditors  61 479  150 369 

Public sector  19 953  23 586 
Holiday pay and subsidies  29 647  37 270 
Other administrative costs payable  2 855   732 
Deferred income  3 243  70 971 
Other sundry liabilities  126 819  90 193 

 254 560  389 186 

 

The balance Other sundry liabilities includes the amount of Euro 22,113 thousands, related to the 
calculation of payable income tax. 

Aditionally, The balance Other sundry liabilities includes the amount of Euro 6,128 thousands  
(31 December 2013: Euro 68,208 thousands) engaged to balances of banking and financial 
transactions pending settlement.  

 

43 Institutional capital 
On 6 November 2013, following the General Assembly deliberation, CEMG increased the institutional 
capital of Caixa Económica Montepio Geral in the amount of Euro 105,000 thousands, by cash 
transfer. 

On 26 September 2013, following the General Assembly deliberation, CEMG increased the 
institutional capital of Caixa Económica Montepio Geral in the amount of Euro 100,000 thousands, by 
cash transfer. 

On 20 December 2012, following the General Assembly deliberation, CEMG increased the 
institutional capital of Caixa Económica Montepio Geral in the amount of Euro 50,000 thousands, by 
cash transfer. 

After the referred operation, the institutional capital of CEMG, amounts Euro 1,500,000 thousands 
totally subscribed by “Montepio Geral – Associação Mutualista”, and is fully paid. 
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44 Participation fund 
Following the decision of the General Shareholders Meeting, held in 28 October 2013, it was issued in 
17 December 2013 participation fund unite representative of Fundo de “Participação da Caixa 
Económica Montepio Geral”, with a total notional of Euro 200.000 thousands, in cash. 

These securities are tradable instruments, according to paragraph g) of article no. 1 of Código dos 
Valores Mobiliários, as they are other representative documents of homogeneous jurisdictional facts 
(namely the right of dividends and the right of receive the liquidation result of Caixa Económica 
Montepio Geral, after all debt holders are reimbursed, including the other subordinated debtors), with 
the possibility of being traded on the market. 

Caixa Económica Montepio Geral issued 200.000.000 securities with the face amount of Euro 1, 
which will be nominated and ordinary. 

Under the statutory rules of Caixa Económica Montepio Geral, theses securities do not grant the right 
to attend the General Shareholders Meeting or the management and the economic rights associated to 
the ownership of the securities includes the right to receive an annual payment when, existing 
sufficient results to distribute, the General Shareholders Meeting decided in that way, under a proposal 
of the Executive Board of Directors, on the right to the reimbursement of the nominal amount only on 
liquidation of Caixa Económica Montepio Geral and after all debt holders are reimbursed, including 
the other subordinated debtors, and in case of partial reimbursement of these securities, subject to the 
approval of Bank of Portugal. The right to information to the owners of these securities is made 
through a common representative elected in General Shareholders Meeting of owner of these 
securities, where the owners of these securities will not have direct access to the economical and 
financial information of Caixa Económica Montepio Geral. 

These securities are eligible for solvency purposes as Core Tier 1. Under IAS 32 – Financial 
Instruments: Presentation, for accounting purposes, these securities are classified as institutional 
capital, considering its specific characteristics, namely the non obligation of payment of the nominal 
amount and interests. 

So, the classification as Institutional capital results from the fact if the investor, as owner of the issued 
security, is exposed to the risk of participation fund of CEMG, as he may not receive an equal amount 
to the acquisition amount. 

 

45 Other equity instrument 
This caption includes the issuance of Euro 15.000 thousands occurred in the first quarter of 2010 
Perpetual Subordinated Securities Interest conditioners made by Montepio Investimento, S.A. 
(previously designated as Finibanco, S.A.), and in connection with the acquisition of Montepio 
Holding, S.G.P.S., S.A. (previously designated as Finibanco Holding, S.G.P.S., S.A.), and its 
subsidiaries, was integrated in CEMG responsibilities, as described in note 1 a). 

In case of purchase of subordinated perpetual securities, they are cancelled from equity and the 
difference between the purchase value and its book value is recognized in net profit.  

During 2014, the Group did not repurchased perpetual subordinated instruments (2013: Euro 6,727 
thousands). After this operations, as at 31 March 2014 and 31 December 2013 the balance Other 
equity instruments presents the amount of Euro 8,273 thousands. 
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Payment 

Subject to the payment of interest limitations described below, the payment will be paid semi-annually 
on 2 February and 2 August of each year, beginning on 2 August, 2010 and will be equal to: 

1st to 4th coupon: 7.00%; 

5th coupon and following: Euribor 6M + 2.75%, with a minimum of 5%. 

Payment interest limitations 

The Issuer will be prevented from making interest payment: 

− And even the extent of competition in which the sum of the amount payable by the interest this 
issue with the amount of dividends paid or deliberate and guaranteed payments relating to any 
preference shares that are likely to be issued, exceed Distributable Funds of the Issuer; or 

− Is in compliance with the Regulatory capital requirements regulation or the extent and up to 
competition in its payment implies that is in default with that regulation. 

The Issuer is also prevented from proceeding to the interest payment if, in the Executive Board of 
Directors or Bank of Portugal opinion, this payment endanger the comply of Regulatory capital 
requirements regulation. 

The impediment to proceed to the Interest Payment may be total or partial. 

Interest non-payment on any date excludes the issuer of the interest payment related to this date in a 
future time. 

It is considered distributable funds in a determined year the algebraic sum, with reference to the 
previous year, the retained earnings with any other amount which may be distributable and profit or 
loss, net of reserve requirements, statutory and legal, but before the deduction of the amount of any 
dividends on ordinary shares or other securities subject to these, for that exercise. 

Reimbursement 

These values are perpetual securities and are only refundable under the terms of early repayment 
provided below. 

By agreement of Bank of Portugal, the issuer may reimburse, in whole or in part, from the 10th date of 
payment of interest, including (5th year). 

In case of continued occurrence of an Event of Disqualification as Core Capital, even before the 
expiration of five years from its issuance, and in agreement with Bank of Portugal, these Securities are 
redeemable at the option of the Issuer, at any time. 

In the disqualification event as Core Capital is defined as a change in any legal document or its official 
interpretation implies these securities values may no longer be classified as Core Capital of the Issuer. 
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46 General and special reserves 
The general and special reserves are charged under the scope of Decree-Law no. 136/79, of 18 May. 
The general reserve is charged to cover any risk and extraordinary losses or depreciation. 

Under the Portuguese regulations, the general reserve should be charged, at least, in a minimum of 
20% of the profit for the year. The limit of general reserve is 25% of total deposits. This reserve is not 
available for distribution and it can be used to improve future income performances or to increase 
capital. 

The special reserve is charged to cover losses from current operations. Under the Portuguese 
regulations, the special reserve should be charged, at least, in a minimum of 5% of the profit for the 
year. This reserve is not available for distribution and it can be used to improve income performances 
or to increase capital. 

The variation of the general and special reserves balance is analyzed in note 47. 

 

47 Fair value reserves, other reserves and retained earnings 
This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Fair value reserves
Available-for-sale financial assets
   Gross Amount  99 428  11 352 
   Taxes ( 33 339) ( 8 066)
   Others ( 29 020) ( 14 819)

 37 069 ( 11 533)

Reserves and retained earnings:
General  187 532  187 532 
Portuguese  68 273  68 273 
Other reserves  48 750  49 324 
Retained earnings ( 332 022) ( 66 935)

( 27 467)  238 194 
 

The fair value reserve represents the potential gains and losses on financial assets available for sale net 
of impairment losses recognized in the income statement and / or in prior years in accordance with 
note 1 d). 
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The fair value reserve can be analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Amortised cost of available-for-sale financial assets 3 580 834 4 573 730 
Accumulated impairment recognised  ( 30 471)  ( 39 266)

Amortised cost of available-for-sale financial assets, net impairment 3 550 363 4 534 464 
Fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 3 649 791 4 545 816 

Net/ unrealised gains/(losses) recognised in the fair value reserve  99 428  11 352 

 

48 Own securities 
This balance includes participation fund units held by the companies included in the consolidation 
perimeter and is present as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014

Net book value  3 350 
Number of participation fund units 3 349 674 
Average book value (Euro) 1,00

 

 

49 Distribution of profit 
On 29 April 2013, following the General Assembly, CEMG distributed to Montepio Geral – 
Associação Mutualista the amount of Euro 1,692 thousands. 

 

50 Non – controlling interests 
This balance is analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013 Mar 2014 Mar 2013

Finibanco Angola S.A.  11 720  11 035   675   338 

 11 720  11 035   675   338 

Balance Sheet Income Statement
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The movements of this balance are analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Initial balance  11 035  6 957 
    Exchange differences   10   562 
    Dividends - (  434)
    Other -  1 797 

 11 045  8 882 
Goodwill arising on consolidation - - 
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests   675  2 153 

Final balance  11 720  11 035 

 

 

51 Obligations and future commitments 
Obligations and future commitments are analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Guarantees granted  476 314  483 544 
Guarantees received 31 674 547 31 521 321 
Commitments to third parties 1 982 342 1 949 361 
Commitments from third parties  96 300  82 802 
Securitised loans 1 331 456 1 342 664 
Securities and other items held for safekeeping on behalf of 
costumers 9 031 885 7 919 199 

44 592 844 43 298 891 
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The amounts of Guarantees granted and Commitments to third parties are analyzed as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Mar 2014 Dec 2013

Guarantees granted:
Guarantees  460 094  471 714 
Open documentary credits  15 791  6 962 
Guarantees and indemnities (counter)   429  4 868 

 476 314  483 544 

Commitments to third parties:
Irrevocable commitments

Irrevocable credit lines  522 380  391 689 
Securities subscription  801 801  801 801 

Annual contribution to the Guarantee Deposits Fund  25 314  25 314 

Potencial obligation with the Investors' Indemnity System  3 507  3 508 
Revocable commitments - 

Revocable credit lines  629 340  727 049 

1 982 342 1 949 361 
  

 

Guarantees granted are financial operations that are not consisted by mobilization on Funds by the 
Group. 

Revocable and irrevocable commitments represent contractual agreements to extend credit to the 
Group’s customers (for example unused credit lines). These agreements are generally, contracted for 
fixed periods of time or with other expiration requisites, and usually require the payment of a 
commission. Substantially, all credit commitments require that clients maintain certain conditions 
verified at the time when the credit was granted. 

The commitments, revocable and irrevocable, represent contractual agreements for credit concession 
with the Group clients which, in general, are contracted by fixed periods or with other expiring 
requisites and, normally, apply for the payment of a commission. Substantially, all commitments of 
credit concession in force require clients to maintain certain requisites which are verified at the time of 
the respective formalization. 

Notwithstanding the particular characteristics of these contingent liabilities and commitments, the 
analysis of these operations follows the same basic principles of any one another commercial 
operation, namely the solvency of the underlying client and business, being that the Group requires 
these operations to be adequately covered by collaterals when needed. Considering that is expected 
that the majority of these contingent liabilities and commitments expire without having being used, the 
indicated amounts do not represent necessarily future cash-flow needs.  

As at 31 March 2014 and 31 December 2013, the balance Annual contribution to the obligations of 
Guarantee Deposits Fund is related with the irrevocable commitment assumed by the Group and 
required by law, to deliver the unrealised amounts of annual contributions required by the Fund. 
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As at 31 March 2014 and 31 December 2013, the balance Potential obligation with the Investors' 
Indemnity System refers to the irrevocable obligation that the Group assumed, under the applicable 
law, to deliver to that system, in case needed, the required amount to pay its share of the indemnities 
to be paid to investors.  

The financial instruments accounted as Guarantees and other commitments are subject to the same 
approval and control procedures applied to the credit portfolio, namely regarding the analysis of 
objective evidence of impairment, as described in note 1 d). The maximum credit exposure is 
represented by the nominal value that could be lost related to guarantees and commitments undertaken 
by the Group in the event of default by the respective counterparties, without considering potential 
recoveries or collaterals. 

 

52 Segmental reporting 
The Group adopted IFRS 8 – Operating Segments, for the disclosure of the financial information by 
operating segments, using new criteria in the preparation of this information. 

The Group's consolidated activity is essentially developed in the financial sector, aiming for 
companies, institutions and private clients. Has its core decision centre in Portugal, which gives its 
privileged target market. 

Products and services include the entire offer implicit to financial activity, such as deposit capitation, 
credit concession and financial services to companies and private and also the custody, and also the 
managing investment funds and life insurances through its associates of the insurance sector. 
Additionally, the Group executes short and long-term investments in the capital or monetary market as 
a way of taking advantage of the price variations or restabilising its available financial resources. 

The Group has a network of 456 branches in Portugal and with one branch in Cabo verde, one 
financial institution in Angola with 13 branches, and 6 representation offices. 

When evaluating the performance by business area, the Group considers the following Operating 
Segments: 

1) Retail Bank, which includes the sub segments of Private, Individual Managers, Micro business 
and Social Charity Private Institutions;  

2) Corporate and Institutional, which includes big sized companies, medium and small companies, 
Financial Institutions and The Public Sector; and 

3) Other Segments, which includes all the entities that are not included in the other segments, 
namely the operations and management referring to Securities' own Portfolio and Applications in 
Credit Institutions. Each segment comprises the Group's structures that are directly or indirectly 
dedicated, as well as autonomous units of the Group which activity is connected to one of the 
above segments. 

Despite the fact that the Group has its activity in Portugal, geographically it has some international 
role, developed by: (i) Finibanco Angola, S.A. and (ii) Banco Montepio Geral – Cabo Verde, 
Sociedade Unipessoal, SA (IFI), which by geographical criteria, results can be distinguished in 
Portugal (Domestic Area) from Cabo Verde and Angola (International Area) 
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Segments description 
 
In a consolidated basis, each of the segments includes income and costs related to the following 
activities, products, clients and structures of the Group: 

Retail Bank 

This segment corresponds to all activity developed by the Group in Portugal with private customers 
and small business, fundamentally originated by the branches network, agent network and electronic 
channels. The financial information of the segment relates to, among other products and services, 
mortgage loans, consumer credit, financing the clients' activity, deposits repayable on demand and 
term deposits, retirement plans and other insurance products to private customers, commissions over 
account management and electronic payments, the investment funds cross-selling and brokerage and 
custodian services. 

Corporate and Institutional 

This segment includes the activity with small, medium and big companies, through offices network 
and commercial structure dedicated to this segment. It also includes the institutional clients business, 
mostly from the financial sector and public administration. Among the products, it is emphasized cash 
and investments loans, commercial discount, leasing, factoring, renting, foreign operations, 
documentaries loans, checks, deposits, received or paid services, credit and debit cards, as well as 
custodian services 

Other segments 

This segment includes all the activity developed supporting the main activities that are the core 
business of the two segments mentioned above, highlighting the Group's global financial management 
activity, the investments in instruments of capital markets (stocks and bonds), be them integrated in 
the negotiation portfolio, of fair value through profit and loss, available for sale or held to maturity. In 
this segment it is also included the impacts of the strategic decisions, the investments in minority 
strategic participations, the activity related to interest and exchange rate risk management, 
management of short and long positions of financial investments which favourites the changes in 
market prices, and the public or private preparation and availability of the issue of stocks, bonds and 
other debt instruments. 

Allocation criteria of the activity and results to the operating segments 

The consolidated financial information presented for each segment was prepared in accordance with 
the criteria followed for the preparation of internal information analyzed by the decision makers of the 
Group, as required by IFRS 8 – Operating Segments. 

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial information related with the 
operating segments are consistent with the ones used in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements, which are described in note 1. The following principles were also adopted: 

Measurement of profit or loss from operating segments 

The Group uses net income before taxes as the measure of profit or loss for evaluating the 
performance of each operating segment. 

Autonomous Operating Segments 

As mentioned above, each operating unit (branches MG Cabo Verde and associated entities) is 
evaluated separately, as these units are considered investment centres. Additionally, considering the 
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characteristics of the business developed by these units, they are fully included in one of the operating 
segments, assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses. 

Group structures dedicated to the segment 

The Group activity comprises most of its operating segments and therefore its activity is 
disaggregated. 

For the purpose of allocating the financial information, the following principles are used: 

(i) The origin of the operation, i.e., the operation is allocated to the same segment as the commercial 
structure that originated it, even though, in a subsequent phase, the Group makes a strategic 
decision in order to securitize some of these originated assets; 

(ii) The allocation of a commercial margin to mass-products, established in a high level when the 
products are launched; 

(iii) The allocation of a margin directly negotiated by the commercial structures with the clients for 
non-mass-products; 

(iv) The allocation of direct costs from commercial and central structures dedicated to the segment; 

(v) The allocation of indirect cost (central support and IT services) determined in accordance with 
specific drivers and with the Cost Based Approach (CBA) model; 

(vi) The allocation of credit risk determined in accordance with the Regulation no. 3/95 of the Bank 
of Portugal and with the impairment model. 

The transactions between the independent and autonomous units of the Group are made at market 
prices; the price of the services between the structures of each unit, namely the price established for 
funding between units, is determined by the margins process referred above (which vary in accordance 
with the strategic relevance of the product and the balance between funding and lending); the 
remaining internal transactions are allocated to the segments in accordance with CBA without any 
margin from the supplier. 

The interest rate risk, exchange risk, liquidity risk and others, except for credit risk, are included in the 
segment Others Segments. 

Interest and similar income/expense 

Since the Group activities are exclusively related to the financial sector, the major income results from 
the difference between interest received on assets and interest paid from liabilities. This situation and 
the fact that the segments evaluation is based on negotiated margins or determined previously to each 
product, leads to the results on the intermediation activity being presented, as permitted by IFRS 8 
paragraph 23, as the net value of interest under the designation of Financial Income. 

Consolidated Investments under the Equity Method 

Investments in associated companies consolidated under the equity method are included in Operations 
between Segments. 

Non-current assets 

Non-current assets, according to IFRS 8, include Other Tangible Assets and Intangible Assets. The 
Group includes these assets on the segment in which these subsidiaries develop their business. 
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Post Employment Benefits 

The factors that influence the amount of responsibilities and the amount of the funds' assets 
correspond, mainly, to external elements; it is the Group policy not to include these factors on the 
performance evaluation of the operating segments, which activities relate to customers 

Domestic and International Areas 

In the disclosure of financial information by geographical areas, the operating units that integrate the 
International Area are: (i) Finibanco Angola S.A. and Banco Montepio Geral – Cabo Verde, 
Sociedade Unipessoal, S.A. (IFI). 

The patrimonial and financial elements related to the international area are presented in the financial 
statements of that unit with the respective consolidation and elimination adjustments. 
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Retrospective information 

After 2009, including, the Group adopted the rules of IFRS 8 / Segmental Reporting, which differ 
from the ones used until then in the financial statements. Consequently, the information from the year 
of 2008 has been reorganized and prepared for presentation, to make it consistent and comparable with 
the demands of IFRS 8.The report by operating segments as at 31 March 2014, is as follows: 
 

(Thousands of Euro)

Income statement indicators 
Retail

Corporate 
and 

institutional

Operations 
between 
segments Total

Interest and similar income  98 953  122 098  1 302  222 353 
Interest and similar expense  66 510  38 571  35 394  140 475 

Net interest income  32 443  83 527 ( 34 092)  81 878 

Dividends from equity instruments - -   34   34 
Fees and commissions income  16 306  5 138  11 632  33 076 
Fees and commissions expense (  352) (  33) ( 7 870) ( 8 255)
Net gains/(losses) arising from assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss - -  1 010  1 010 
Net gains/(losses) arising from available-for-sale financial assets - -  208 705  208 705 
Net gains arising from foreign exchange differences - -  4 918  4 918 
Net gains from sale of other financial assets - - ( 4 952) ( 4 952)
Other operating income  1 460   300 ( 10 571) ( 8 811)

Total operating income  49 857  88 932  168 814  307 603 

Staff costs  33 803  7 745  4 452  46 000 
General and administrative expenses  18 126  4 831  3 551  26 508 
Depreciation and amortisation  6 284  1 675  1 232  9 191 

Total operating costs  58 213  14 251  9 235  81 699 

Total of Provisions and Impairment  12 655  136 511  19 852  169 018 

Operating profit ( 21 011) ( 61 830)  139 727  56 886 

Equity accounted earnings - - ( 7 537) ( 7 537)

Income before taxes and non-controlling interests ( 21 011) ( 61 830)  132 190  49 349 
Current taxes - - ( 22 489) ( 22 489)
Deferred taxes - -  9 296  9 296 
Non-controlling interests - - (  675) (  675)

Consolidated profit for the year attributable to MGAM ( 21 011) ( 61 830)  118 322  35 481 

Net Assets 13 033 172 5 554 895 3 871 159 22 459 226 
Liabilities 13 314 678  850 477 6 532 525 20 697 680 
Investments in Associates - -  39 209  39 209 
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The report by operating segments as at 31 December 2013, is as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Income statement indicators 
Retail

Corporate 
and 

institutional

Operations 
between 
segments Total

Interest and similar income  421 842  272 821  121 367  816 030 
Interest and similar expense  225 384  77 474  287 925  590 783 

Net interest income  196 458  195 347 ( 166 558)  225 247 

Dividends from equity instruments - -   535   535 
Fees and commissions income  96 557  42 163  4 966  143 686 
Fees and commissions expense ( 15 748) ( 1 889) ( 11 415) ( 29 052)
Net gains/(losses) arising from assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss - - ( 27 986) ( 27 986)
Net gains/(losses) arising from available-for-sale financial assets - -  44 025  44 025 
Net gains arising from foreign exchange differences - -  20 223  20 223 
Net gains from sale of other financial assets - -  35 479  35 479 
Other operating income  8 172  2 874 ( 45 526) ( 34 480)

Total operating income  285 439  238 495 ( 146 257)  377 677 

Staff costs  136 652  35 747  24 435  196 834 
General and administrative expenses  75 466  19 536  14 925  109 927 
Depreciation and amortisation  22 897  5 927  4 528  33 352 

Total operating costs  235 015  61 210  43 888  340 113 

Total of Provisions and Impairment  75 130  229 216  92 988  397 334 

Operating profit ( 24 706) ( 51 931) ( 283 133) ( 359 770)

Equity accounted earnings - - ( 12 682) ( 12 682)

Income before taxes and non-controlling interests ( 24 706) ( 51 931) ( 295 815) ( 372 452)
Current taxes - - ( 9 469) ( 9 469)
Deferred taxes - -  85 448  85 448 
Non-controlling interests - - ( 2 153) ( 2 153)

Consolidated profit for the year ( 24 706) ( 51 931) ( 221 989) ( 298 626)

Net Assets 12 954 747 3 949 382 6 135 074 23 039 203 
Liabilities 13 745 828 3 111 396 4 534 636 21 391 860 
Investments in Associates - -  42 399  42 399 

 
 

The Group develops bank activities as well as financial services in Portugal, Angola and in Cabo 
Verde. 

Geographical Segments 

The Group operates with special emphasis in markets such as Portugal, Angola and Cabo Verde. 
Considering this, the geographical segments information includes Portugal and Cabo Verde, being that 
the segment Portugal reflects, essentially, the activities carried out by Caixa Económica Montepio 
Geral. The segment Cabo Verde includes the operations developed by Finibanco Angola, S.A. and by 
Banco Montepio Geral – Cabo Verde, Sociedade Unipessoal, S.A. (IFI). 
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As at 31 March 2014, the net contribution of the main geographical segments is as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Income statement indicators Domestic International Adjustments Consolidated

Interest and similar income  214 892  13 696 ( 6 235)  222 353 
Interest and similar expense  137 780  8 930 ( 6 235)  140 475 

Net interest income  77 112  4 766 -  81 878 

Dividends from equity instruments   34 - -   34 
Fees and commissions income  30 774  2 302 -  33 076 
Fees and commissions expense ( 8 128) (  127) - ( 8 255)
Net gains/(losses) arising from assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
and loss  1 010 - -  1 010 
Net gains/(losses) arising from available-for-sale financial assets  208 705 - -  208 705 
Net gains arising from foreign exchange differences   804  4 114 -  4 918 
Net gains from sale of other financial assets ( 4 952) - - ( 4 952)
Other operating income ( 8 839)   169 (  141) ( 8 811)

Total operational income  296 520  11 224 (  141)  307 603 

Staff costs  44 502  1 498 -  46 000 
General and administrative expenses  24 875  1 774 (  141)  26 508 
Depreciation and amortisation  8 777   414 -  9 191 

Total operating costs  78 154  3 686 (  141)  81 699 

Loans impairment  147 403  2 065 -  149 468 
Other financial assets impairment  18 189 - -  18 189 
Other assets impairment  1 543   119 -  1 662 
Other provisions (  301) - - (  301)

 
Operating profit  51 532  5 354 -  56 886 

Share of profit of associates under the equity method ( 7 537) - - ( 7 537)

Income before taxes and non-controlling interests  43 995  5 354 -  49 349 

Current taxes ( 21 046) ( 1 443) - ( 22 489)
Deferred taxes  9 296 - -  9 296 
Non-controlling interests (  675) - - (  675)

Consolidated profit for the year attributable to MGAM  31 570  3 911 -  35 481 
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(Thousands of Euro)

Balance sheet indicators Domestic International Adjustments Consolidated

Cash and deposits at central banks  349 850  77 214 -  427 064 
Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand  263 561  9 944 ( 43 990)  229 515 
Other loans and advances to credit institutions  316 771  675 126 ( 608 398)  383 499 
Loans and advances to customers 15 282 358  228 766 - 15 511 124 
Financial assets held for trading  63 527 - -  63 527 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   902 - -   902 
Financial assets available-for-sale 3 649 615   176 - 3 649 791 
Hedging derivatives   596 - -   596 
Held-to-maturity investments  17 359  65 648 -  83 007 
Investments in associated companies and others  78 058 - ( 38 849)  39 209 
Non- current assets held for sale  677 424   149 -  677 573 
Investment proporties  711 306 - -  711 306 
Other tangible assets  84 524  35 506 -  120 030 
Intangible assets  56 832  1 383 -  58 215 
Current tax assets   146  4 862 -  5 008 
Deferred tax assets  319 513 - -  319 513 
Other assets  169 578  9 769 -  179 347 

Total Assets 22 041 920 1 108 543 ( 691 237) 22 459 226 

Deposits from central banks 2 968 037 - - 2 968 037 
Deposits from other credit institutions 1 233 173  10 915 ( 614 566)  629 522 
Deposits from customers 13 015 396 1 003 402 ( 34 119) 13 984 679 
Debt securities issued  65 745 - -  65 745 
Financial liabilities associated to transferred assets 2 213 152 - - 2 213 152 
Financial liabilities held for trading  193 910 - -  193 910 
Hedging derivatives  1 975 - -  1 975 
Provisions  6 458   526 -  6 984 
Current tax liabilities  1 707  5 485 -  7 192 
Deferred tax liabilities - - - - 
Other subordinated debt  375 626 - ( 3 702)  371 924 
Other liabilities  244 238  10 322 -  254 560 

Total Liabilities 20 319 417 1 030 650 ( 652 387) 20 697 680 

Share capital 1 700 000  40 130 ( 40 130) 1 700 000 
Other equity instruments  4 572  3 701 -  8 273 
Own Securities ( 3 350) - - ( 3 350)
Fair value reserves  46 861 (  26) ( 9 766)  37 069 
Other reserves and retained earnings ( 57 819)  30 172 - ( 27 647)
Profit for the period  32 242  3 913 (  674)  35 481 

Total Equity attributable to CEMG 1 722 506  77 890 ( 50 570) 1 749 826 
Non-controlling interests  11 720 - -  11 720 

Total Equity 1 734 226  77 890 ( 50 570) 1 761 546 

Total Liabilities and Equity 22 053 643 1 108 540 ( 702 957) 22 459 226 
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As at 31 December 2013, the net contribution of the main geographical segments is as follows: 

(Thousands of Euro)

Income statement indicators Domestic International Adjustments Consolidated

Interest and similar income  795 918  44 225 ( 24 113)  816 030 
Interest and similar expense  584 803  30 093 ( 24 113)  590 783 

Net interest income  211 115  14 132 -  225 247 

Dividends from equity instruments   939 - (  404)   535 
Fees and commissions income  134 218  9 468 -  143 686 
Fees and commissions expense ( 27 961) ( 1 091) - ( 29 052)
Net gains/(losses) arising from assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
and loss ( 27 986) - - ( 27 986)
Net gains/(losses) arising from available-for-sale financial assets  44 025 - -  44 025 
Net gains arising from foreign exchange differences  4 366  15 857 -  20 223 
Net gains from sale of other financial assets  35 471   8 -  35 479 
Other operating income ( 35 490)  1 609 (  599) ( 34 480)

Total operational income  338 697  39 983 ( 1 003)  377 677 

Staff costs  191 198  5 636 -  196 834 
General and administrative expenses  104 478  6 048 (  599)  109 927 
Depreciation and amortisation  32 107  1 245 -  33 352 

Total operating costs  327 783  12 929 (  599)  340 113 

Loans impairment  290 901  8 060 (  127)  298 834 
Other assets impairment  60 982   300 -  61 282 
Other financial assets impairment  33 865   157 -  34 022 
Other provisions  3 020   176 -  3 196 

 
Operating profit ( 377 854)  18 361 (  277) ( 359 770)

Share of profit of associates under the equity method ( 12 682) - - ( 12 682)

Income before taxes and non-controlling interests ( 390 536)  18 361 (  277) ( 372 452)

Current taxes ( 3 702) ( 5 767) - ( 9 469)
Deferred taxes  85 448 - -  85 448 
Non-controlling interests ( 2 153) - - ( 2 153)

Consolidated profit for the year attributable to MGAM ( 310 943)  12 594 (  277) ( 298 626)

 

  



Caixa Económica Montepio Geral 
Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 

31 March, 2014 
 
 

108 
 

(Thousands of Euro)

Balance sheet indicators Domestic International Adjustments Consolidated

Cash and deposits at central banks  242 373  71 886 -  314 259 
Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand  262 606  22 706 ( 51 527)  233 785 
Other loans and advances to credit institutions  330 063 - -  330 063 
Loans and advances to customers 15 554 965   176 - 15 555 141 
Financial assets held for trading ( 18 813)  689 977 ( 607 058)  64 106 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ( 158 170)  161 393   227  3 450 
Financial assets available-for-sale 4 545 816 - - 4 545 816 
Hedging derivatives ( 16 901)  17 404 -   503 
Held-to-maturity investments  34 631 - -  34 631 
Investments in associated companies and others  42 399 - -  42 399 
Non- current assets held for sale  690 385 - ( 8 997)  681 388 
Investment proporties  541 795  1 739 -  543 534 
Other tangible assets  120 492 - -  120 492 
Intangible assets  59 130   149 -  59 279 
Current tax assets ( 33 185)  35 017 -  1 832 
Deferred tax assets  335 444   820 -  336 264 
Other assets  169 960  2 498 (  197)  172 261 

Total Assets 22 702 990 1 003 765 ( 667 552) 23 039 203 

Deposits from central banks 3 427 354 - - 3 427 354 
Deposits from other credit institutions ( 413 054)  921 682 ( 34 131)  474 497 
Deposits from customers 14 142 828 - - 14 142 828 
Debt securities issued  682 563   415 ( 620 754)  62 224 
Financial liabilities associated to transferred assets 2 319 428 - - 2 319 428 
Financial liabilities held for trading  195 049 - -  195 049 
Hedging derivatives  1 845   4 -  1 849 
Provisions  7 607   407 -  8 014 
Current tax liabilities  1 353 - -  1 353 
Deferred tax liabilities - - - - 
Other subordinated debt  370 077  3 701 ( 3 700)  370 078 
Other liabilities  382 045  7 338 (  197)  389 186 

Total Liabilities 21 117 095  933 547 ( 658 782) 21 391 860 

Share capital 1 668 908  40 089 ( 8 997) 1 700 000 
Other equity instruments  8 273 - -  8 273 
Fair value reserves   16 (  561) ( 10 988) ( 11 533)
Other reserves and retained earnings  208 605  18 097  11 492  238 194 
Profit for the period ( 310 943)  12 594 (  277) ( 298 626)

Total Equity attributable to MGAM 1 574 859  70 219 ( 8 770) 1 636 308 
Non-controlling interests  11 035 - -  11 035 

Total Equity 1 585 894  70 219 ( 8 770) 1 647 343 

Total Liabilities and Equity 22 702 989 1 003 766 ( 667 552) 23 039 203  
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53 Subsidiary companies 
As at 31 March 2014, the companies under full consolidation in the Group are presented as follows: 

Subsidiary Company Head of office Share Capital Activity % Held

Banco Montepio Geral – Cabo Verde, 
   Sociedade Unipessoal, S.A. (IFI) Praia Euros 8 996 000 Banking 100,00%

Montepio Holding, S.G.P.S., S.A. Porto Euros 175 000 000 Holding company 100,00%

Montepio Investimento, S.A. Porto Euros 180 000 000 Banking 100,00%
Montepio Crédito - Instituição Financeira 
   de Crédito, S.A. Porto Euros 30 000 000 Finance lease 100,00%
Montepio Valor - Sociedade Gestora de 
   Fundos de Investimento, S.A. Porto Euros 1 550 000 Investment fund management 100,00%

Montepio Recuperação de Crédito, ACE Lisboa - Services 93,00%

Finibanco Angola, S.A. Luanda AOA 4 182 000 000 Banking 87,67%  

 
As at 31 March 2014, the companies included in the consolidated accounts under the equity method 
are as follows: 

Subsidiary Company Head of office Share Capital Activity % Held

Montepio Seguros, S.G.P.S., S.A. Lisboa Euros 137 750 000 Insurance 33,65%

HTA - Hóteis, Turismo e Animação dos Açores, S.A. Ilha de São Miguel Euros 10 000 000 Hotels with restaurants 20,00%

Iberpartners Cafés, S.G.P.S., S.A. Lisboa Euros 3 400 000 Holding Company 29,41%
Nutre, S.G.P.S., S.A. Oliveira de Frades Euros  5 000 000 Holding Company 20,00%

 

The investment funds under full consolidation in the Group are presented as follows: “Finipredial - 
Fundo de Investimento Aberto”, “Montepio Arrendamento – Fundo de Investimento Imobiliário 
Fechado para Arrendamento Habitacional”, “Montepio Arrendamento II – Fundo de Investimento 
Imobiliário Fechado para Arrendamento Habitacional”, “Montepio Arrendamento III – Fundo de 
Investimento Imobiliário Fechado para Arrendamento Habitacional”, “Polaris – Fundo de 
Investimento Imobiliário Fechado de Subscrição Particular” and “Carteira Imobiliária – Fundo 
Especial de Investimento Imobiliário Aberto”, as referred in the accounting policy described in note 1 
b). 

 

54 Subsequent events  
After the balance sheet date and before the financial statements were authorized for issue, there were 
no relevant transactions and/or events that deserve relevance disclosure. 
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